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NORTHEAST ANIMAL CARE CENTER 

The Northeast Animal Care Center (Northeast) is located in Mission Hills (Council District 7) and was 
built to be a fully operational Animal Care Center. Northeast opened as an evidence/special 
operations Care Center in Fiscal Year 2008-09 and typically houses nursing animals and long-term 
hold animals for legally-mandated reasons such as: evidence, owner in jail, cruelty investigations, and 
dangerous animal hearings. Currently, no animals are housed at Northeast due to staffing constraints. 

The discussion to release a Request for Information (RFI) for the operation of Northeast began during 
Fiscal Year 2009-1 0 after the closure of the facility was contemplated in the budget. The intent of the 
RFI was to determine if a non-profit animal welfare organization would be willing to operate an Animal 
Care Center (Care Center) or a function of a Care Center, Northeast was proposed for a community 
partnership in the Mayor's 2011-12 Proposed Budget. During the Budget and Finance Committee 
deliberations of the 2011-12 Proposed Budget, the Committee reemphasized the need to pursue 
partnerships for the operation of one or more of the City's Care Centers. Additionally, we were directed 
to evaluate alternatives to the proposed management contract for Northeast. 

On January 10, 2011 and after multiple discussions concerning the RFI with the Department of Animal 
Services (Department), the Office of the City Administrative Officer (CAO) released a RFI for a 
contractor to operate one or more Care Centers. Responses to the RFI were due on February 26, 
2011. The City received one response from Best Friends Animal Society (BFAS) to operate Northeast. 
After reviewing their proposal, the CAO and the Department determined that BFAS was capable of 
operating Northeast on behalf of the City and a partnership would expand the range of services 
provided at Northeast to the benefit of the residents of the City at a limited cost to the City. 

The GAO has subsequently prepared a draft management contract (Attachment 1) for the operation of 
Northeast by BF AS. Under the terms of the proposed contract, BF AS would provide the City with the 
following services: 

• On-site adoptions and monthly adoption events (primary function) 
• Low cost spay/neuter surgeries, vaccinations, and medical care for the public and 

shelter animals (secondary function) 
Educational, outreach, and development programs (tertiary function) 
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Independent of any other agreement, the City will be unable to operate Northeast or expand services 
provided at Northeast over the next several fiscal years due to the City's current and projected 
financial picture. Therefore, the City should adopt a management contract with SFAS that will reduce 
current General Fund costs, enhance the range of services provided at Northeast to the benefit of all 
City residents, and reduce the number of animals euthanized due to time and space constraints. 

After the Mayor and the Council have considered the available options for Northeast, our Office, as 
directed by the Budget and Finance Committee, will pursue a similar arrangement through a RFl or 
Request for Proposals (RFP) for the operation of the existing South Los Angeles Care Center. 

BACKGROUND 

Current budgetary conditions have forced the City to review both long- and short-term operational 
changes to address the City's structural deficit. On January 29, 2010, the CAO released its Three­
Year Plan to Fiscal Sustainability (C.F. 09-0600-8159). In this report, the CAO recommended the 
issuance of a RFI for the operation of one or more of the City's Care Centers by an established animal 
care and control organization by March 1, 2010. The release of the RFI was held pending the 
selection of a permanent General Manager for the Department. On July 16, 2010, the Council 
approved and confirmed the selection Ms. Brenda Barnette as the permanent General Manager. On 
January 10, 2011 and after multiple discussions concerning the RFI with Ms. Barnette, the CAO 
released a RFI for a contractor to operate one or more Care Centers. Responses to the RFI were due 
on February 26, 2011. The City received one response to the RFI from BFAS to operate Northeast. 
After reviewing their proposal in relation to available alternatives for Northeast, the CAO and the 
Department determined that pursuing a management contract with SFAS was in the City's best 
interest The following is a summary of available alternatives for Northeast. 

ALTERNATIVES 

Alternative 1: 
Close Northeast- On-going Savings- $1.1 Million; One-time Cost- $98,000 

Northeast has operated as an evidence/special operations shelter since Fiscal Year 2008-09; the 
shelter is not open to the public for adoptions or animal welfare services, so the closure of this facility 
would have a minimal impact on public services. The 2011-12 Adopted Budget assumes the City will 
not operate Northeast. As a result, the sixteen resolution authority positions associated with Northeast 
were not continued in the Department's budget. Staff assigned to Northeast will be transferred to the 
City's six other Care Centers to supplement existing operations, The operation of Northeast does not 
impact the Department's Animal Control and Law Enforcement function. If Northeast is closed, the 
Department will continue to provide animal control and law enforcement services in the Northeast San 
Fernando Valley. Closing Northeast reduces the City's on-going General Fund expenditures by $1,1 
million. Installing a security camera system and moth-balling Northeast will result in a one-time cost of 
$98,000. Independent of any other agreement, the closure of Northeast will increase the number of 
animals euthanized due to time and space constraints. As illustrated in Attachment 1, the Impounds 
by Cou neil District table (Table 1), each Care Center provides a level of service to constituents in each 
Council District. 
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If the City reinstated services for Northeast at the Fiscal Year 2010-11 level, salary and expense 
funding, as well as, position authorities would need to be restored at an additional General Fund cost 
of $1.1 million (Attachment 1 Table 1 ). General Fund monies from outside of the Department would 
need to be identified which would mostly likely reduce services provided by other City departments. 
The Department would also need to hire and train 16 additional full-time employees. Special 
operations activities do not directly impact Departmental revenues; therefore, the City would not 
recuperate any monies to offset the add itional costs. Using Northeast for long-term holds reduces the 
number of animals euthanized due to time and space constraints. Although this reduces the number of 
animals the Department euthanizes each year, utilizing funds in this manner does not provide City 
residents with tangible services. This alternative will not impact the Department's euthanasia rate. 

Northeast Costs- Special Operations Care Center 

Staffing Costs $762,831 

Expense Costs $315,100 

Total $1,077,931 

Alternative 3: 
Open Northeast as a Fully Operational Care Center- Cost $3.3 Million 

If the City opened Northeast as a fully operational facility, the Department's current salary and 
expense allocations, as well as, authorized position authorities would need to be adjusted at an 
additional General Fund cost of $3.3 million (Attachment 1 Table 2). Opening Northeast in Fiscal Year 
2011-12 would require the Department to hire and train 38 additional full -time employees. Revenues 
generated from Northeast activities would not fully offset the additional General Fund monies needed 
to open the facility. Th is alternative would reduce the number of animals euthanized due to time and 
space constraints and enhance the level of animal welfare services provided, but General Fund 
monies from outside of the Department would need to be identified which would mostly likely reduce 
services provided by other City departments. This alternative would reduce the number of animals 
euthanized due to time and space constraints . 

Northeast Costs- Full Operations Care Center 

Staffing Costs $2,844,555 

Expense Costs $449,056 

Total $3,293,612 

Alternative 4: 
Spread Department Care Center Staff Evenly Across All Care Centers - Cost Neutral 

The City has six (three large and three small) fully operational Care Centers. Large Care Centers have 
39 staff and small Care Centers have 27 staff. Attachment 1 Table 3 illustrates the status quo staffing 
level for the Department's operating Care Centers. If the Department's Care Center staff were spread 
evenly across the City's seven Care Centers, each Care Center would be allocated 28 staff and $1.75 
million in funding ($1.5 million in salaries and $250,000 for equipment) and the City would cover the 
$750,000 in related costs. The total cost per Care Center under this scenario is $2.5 million. This does 
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not represent an increase to existing funds, but rather a redistribution of existing resources. If this was 
adopted, the West LA and Harbor Care Centers would not suffer greatly because those two Care 
Centers have approximately 27 staff now; the major reduction and service loss would be experienced 
at the West Valley, East Valley, North Central, and South LA Care Centers. Each of those facilities 
would lose 8-11 staff. Since 28 staff is insufficient to operate the large Care Centers, the Department 
would have to either reduce operating hours at each large Care Center or close the large Care 
Centers for additional days each week. This would result in reduced operating hours to the public 
either by reduced daily hours or the closure of full days. Even though resources would be allocated 
evenly across all Care Centers, this alternative would limit the Department's ability to provide a full 
array of services at all Care Centers and reduce service levels at all operating Care Centers. 

Alternatively, if staffing cuts at the six operating Care Centers were made proportionate to the Care 
Center's size, then large Care Centers would be allocated 32 staff and small Care Centers would be 
allocated 24 staff. This staffing model results in the closure of one additional day per week at all Care 
Centers. Attachment 1 Table 4, illustrates the spread of existing staff across seven Care Centers. 

The Hayden Bill (SB 1785) provides that no dog, cat, or other animal impounded by a public pound or 
specified shelter shall be killed before 4 business days have elapsed from the time of impounding. 

Lost Pets and Strays 
Adoptions Available on the 4th day, not including the day of intake, holidays, or facility closure days. 

Euthanasia Allowed on the 4th day, not including the day of intake, holidays, or facility closure days. 

Owner Surrenders 
Adoptions Animal becomes available immediately, upon surrender. 

Euthanasia Allowed on the 4th day, not including the day of intake, holidays, or facllity closure days. 

This alternative would also increase the number of animals euthanized due to time and space 
constraints since less staff would be available at each Care Center and the turnover in kennel space 
would be reduced due to additional daily closures and the Hayden Bill requirements. Overall this 
reduces the number of available kennels used at each of the Care Centers. The reduction in kennel 
space at the operating Care Centers would exceed the kennel space added by Northeast which 
results in a City-wide reduction in kennel space, thereby increasing the number of animals euthanized 
due to time and space constraints by 10,000. 

Alternative 5: 
Contract Out Existing Functions 

The Department currently uses multiple contractors to supplement the services provided by existing 
City personnel. Clinico, Fix Nation, and Value Vet operate spay/neuter clinics or provide spay/neuter 
services for the Department The Amanda Foundation operates the Department's mobile spay/neuter 
clinics. ldexx Laboratories provides diagnostic laboratory testing services to the Department The three 
main functions of a Care Center are intake/adoptions, animal care/medical services, and public 
outreach. The RFI issued by our Office allowed proposers to submit plans to provide specific services 
at the City's Care Centers. The City did not receive any proposals to provide a Ia carte services and 
the City has had trouble in the past securing Care Center related services. If the RFI was successful in 
identifying a sole provider for any one of the three main Care Center functions, the Department would 
have to identify a way to implement the proposal without laying off or displacing City staff in the 
functional area or areas identified since the majority of Departmental employees are protected by their 
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respective Memorandums of Understanding (MOUs). These MOUs forbid the contracting out of union 
work that results in a union member's loss of employment. 

Alternative 6: 
Authorize a Management Contract for the Operation of Northeast- Cost Neutral to the General 
Fund and the City gains $3.3 million in Services 

SFAS, a national animal welfare organization based in Kanab, Utah, submitted a proposal to operate 
Northeast in February 2011. BFAS has worked with the City on various animal welfare programs since 
the early 1990's. SFAS began collaborating directly with the Department in 1998. In the spring of 
1999, BFAS held its first Super Adoption event aimed at placing Los Angeles shelter animals in new 
homes and with rescue organizations. Best Friends has hosted over 25 pet Super Adoption events in 
Los Angeles since 1999, as well as, Care Center adoption events that have placed an estimated 8, 000 
homeless pets into new homes. SFAS has for many years worked with the Department's volunteer 
coordinators, along with teams of volunteers to produce and promote large-scale adoption events. In 
addition to working with the Department, Best Friends has helped mentor and establish numerous 
rescue organizations that are now considered significant assets to the Los Angeles community. BFAS 
desires to partner with the City through Northeast as part of a continuum of long-term involvement with 
the City and the Los Angeles animal community. Based on the terms of their proposal, SFAS would 
administer adoption and spay-neuter services, plus provide community outreach and education 
programs consistent with the Department's mission. 

The GAO has prepared a draft sole-source management contract for the operation of Northeast by 
SFAS. Under the terms of the proposed contract, BFAS would provide the City with the following 
services: 

1. Primary Function- On-site adoptions and monthly adoption events 
1111 Animals at the adoption center will remain the legal property of the City 
1111 On average a combined 50 dogs and cats will be housed and cared for at the adoption 

center by BF AS 
• SFAS will be the adoption facilitator providing animal care, training, grooming and 

marketing to find the animals homes 
• Animal Services will be paid a set adoption fee per animal 
• BFAS will remit the $20 dog license fee to the City for all dogs adopted at Northeast 
• SFAS will have animal supplies on-site for sale. These are items that adopters will need 

to transition their animal into their home 

2. Secondary Function- Low cost spay/neuter surgeries, vaccinations, and medical care 
• Surgical Sterilization 

a. Cats and dogs available for adoption in the adoption center 
b. Cats and dogs owned by the public 
c. Trap, Neuter, and Release (TNR) surgeries will not be performed at Northeast 

1111 Emergency Medical Treatment 
• Care and Release of the Animals 
• Wellness and Vaccine Clinics 
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b. Class sizes will be limited to a size that can be appropriately controlled by a trainer 
c. Animals enrolled in classes will be required to be current on vaccinations 

Each of the proposed services would expand the range of services provided at Northeast without any 
additional General Fund obligations to the Department. BFAS has indicated a willingness to invest in 
excess of $1 . 0 million to operate Northeast, provided the City furnishes basic facility maintenance and 
utilities expenses. This alternative would reduce the number of animals euthanized due to time and 
space constraints because the animals housed at Northeast would come from the City's other Care 
Centers. Transferring animals from other Care Centers to Northeast increases available kennel space 
at City operated Care Centers. The nine full-time staff who worked at Northeast last fiscal year have 
been moved to other Care Centers effective August 1st due to the Department's current staffing 
constraints. Evidence and special hold animals were moved to other Care Centers in mid-July. 

Material Provisions of the Proposed Management Agreement are as follows: 

Services Provided by BFAS: 
• The term is three years, renewable for up to two additional years 
• BFAS will care for, adopt, and treat animals 
• BFAS will provide spay/neuter and vaccine clinics 
• BF AS will receive and process animal license applications for residents of the City and 

remit license fees to the City at no cost to the City 

Services Not Provided by BFAS: 
• BFAS will not engage in any form of Trap, Neuter, Return (TNR) at Northeast 
• BFAS will not trap or remove wildlife or any animals for the reasons of nuisance to residents 
• Owner requested euthanasia will not be provided 
• BFAS will not euthanize animals for time and space constraints 

The operation of Northeast by BFAS would not result in any layoffs of City staff or transfers of City 
staff from the Department to other City Departments. The operation of Northeast by BFAS would not 
impact the Department's Animal Control and Law Enforcement function. The Department will continue 
to provide animal control and law enforcement services in the Northeast San Fernando Valley. 
Attachment 2 expands on the services BFAS would provide at Northeast. Care of animals in custody 
of BFAS shall be in accordance with all federal, state and local humane laws and statutes. BFAS shall 
provide all staffing, equipment, and supplies; obtain all permits, licenses, and registrations required to 
operate Northeast; and shall coordinate with Department staff to provide services. The Department will 
evaluate BFAS's performance and level of compliance with the contract by performing on-site 
inspections and reports. BFAS will be required to immediately correct any deficiencies identified by the 
Department. The proposed contract must be reviewed by the City Attorney as to form prior to 
execution. 
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That the Council, subject to the approval of the Mayor, authorize the General Manager of the 
Department of Animal Services with the assistance of the Office of the City Administrative Officer and 
the Office of the City Attorney, to negotiate and execute a three-year sole source management 
contract with two one-year renewal options between the City of Los Angeles and the Best Friends 
Animal Society for the operation of the Northeast Animal Care Center, subject to the approval of the 
City Attorney as to form. 

FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 

Approval of the recommendation in this report will have no additional impact on the General Fund. The 
Department of General Services was budgeted $200,000 to continue to provide basic facility 
maintenance and utilities for the Northeast Animal Care Center. The recommendation reduces existing 
General Fund expenses and wlll provide cost avoidance savings during the term of the contract based 
on the services Best Friends Animal Society (BFAS) is willing to provide at no additional cost to the 
City. The value of the services provided will range between $1.1 million and $3.3 million per year. 

MA S:JLK:04120006 

Attachments 



ATTACHMENT 1 

Table 1. 2010-11 Actual Staffing and Expenditure Levels 

Actual Staffing Costs 

Anima l Care Technician Supv. Full Time 1 $60,227 $60,227 

Animal Care Technicians Full Time 8 $49,466 $395,728 

Veterinary Techn ician Full Time 1 $58,137 $58,137 

Veterinarian II Part Time 0.2 $110,802 $22,160 

Healthcare- 2010-11 Rate $9,864 $100,613 

Pensions- 2010-11 Rate 23.49% $125,966 

Total $762,831 

Department Expenditures 

Account No. 3040- Contractural Services $5,500 

Account No. 3190- An imal Medical $40,000 

Accou nt No . 4580 - An imal Food $28,500 

Account No. 6010- Office Supplies $10,200 

Account No. 6020- Operating Supplies $36,000 

Total $120,200 

General Services Expenditures 

Security $0 

Bu ild ing Maintenance $52,600 

Water $13,200 

Electricity $94,200 

Custod ial $34,900 

Total $194,900 

Total Northeast Costs 

Staffing Costs $762,831 

Expenditure Estimates $315,100 

Total $1,077,931 



ATTACHMENT 1 

Table 2. Projected General Fund Cost to Operate Northeast as an Operational Care Center 

Estimated Staffing Cost s 

Animal Care Technician Supv. Full Time 2 $60,227 $120,454 

Animal Care Technicians Full Time 26 $49,466 $1,286,116 

Veterinary Technician Full Time 4 $58,137 $232,548 

Veterinarian II Full Time 1 $110,802 $110,802 

Clerk Typist Full Time 4 $47,521 $190,084 

Sr. Clerk Typist Full Time 1 $59,934 $59,934 

Healthcare- 2010-11 Rate $9,864 $374,832 

Pensions- 2010-11 Rate 23.49% $469,785 

Total $2,844,555 

Department Expenditure Estimates 

Account No. 3040 - Contractural Services $42,628 

Account No. 3190- Animal Medical $65,173 

Account No. 4580 - Animal Food $61,309 

Account No. 6010- Office Supplies $20,400 

Account No. 6020- Operating Supplies $64,647 

Total $254,156 

General Services Expenditure Estimates 

Security $0 

Building Maintenance $52,600 

Water $13,200 

Electricity $94,200 

Custodial $34,900 

Total $194,900 

Northeast Costs 

Staffing Costs $2,844,555 

Expenditure Estimates $449,056 

Total $3,293,612 
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Table 3. Impounds by Council District for 71112010 to 613012011 
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ATTACHMENT 1 

Table 4. Status Quo Staffing Levels for the Department's Large and Small Care Centers 

Large Operating Center (Status qu~- East Valley, West Valley, South Los Angeles 

Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday 

Large Facilities 11 am- Sam - Sam - S am- Sam - Sam -
Public Hours 5pm Closed 5pm 5pm 5pm 5pm 5pm 
Staffing Total Daily Staffing Allotment Hrs. 

Senior Animal Control 
Officer II 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 1 40 
Animal Care 
Techn ician Supervisor 3 2 2 2 2 2 2 3 120 
Animal Care 
Technician 29 22 16 19 19 19 25 25 1160 
Senior Clerk Typist 1 0 1 1 1 1 1 0 40 
Clerk Typist 5 0 1 5 5 5 5 4 200 

1560 

Small Operating Center (Status Quo)- Harbor, West Los Angeles, North Central 

Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday 

Small Facilities 11 am- Sam - Sam - Sam- Sam - Sam -
Public Hours 5 pm Closed Spm 5pm Spm 5pm Spm 
Staffing Total Dai ly Staffing Allotment Hrs. 

Sen ior An imal Control 
Officer II 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 1 40 
Animal Care 
Technician Supervisor 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 3 120 
Animal Care 
Technician 19 15 11 12 12 13 16 16 760 
Senior Clerk Typist 1 0 1 1 1 1 1 0 40 
Clerk Typist 4 0 1 4 4 4 4 3 160 

1120 

Table 5. Spread Existing Staff Across Seven Care Centers 

Large Facil ities 
Public Hours Closed Closed 

Staffing Total Daily Staffing Allotment Wkly. Hrs. 
Senior Animal Control 
Officer II 0 0 40 
Animal Care Technician 
Supervisor 2 2 1 2 2 80 

Animal Care Technician 24 22 10 10 15 15 24 24 960 

Senior Clerk Typist 1 0 0 1 40 

Clerk Typist 4 0 2 2 4 4 4 4 160 

SmaiiO read over seven 
Small Facility (7) 

Option No.2 
11 am - S am - Sam - S am - Sam -

Public Hours 5pm Closed Closed Spm 5pm 5pm 5pm 

Staffing Total Daily Staffing Allotment Wkly. Hrs. 
Senior Animal Control 
Officer II 0 0 40 
Animal Care Technician 
Supervisor 2 2 2 2 80 

An imal Care Technician 17 15 8 8 11 11 16 16 680 

Senior Clerk Typist 1 0 1 1 1 1 0 40 

Clerk Typist 3 0 2 3 3 3 3 120 

960 
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Table 6. Hayden Bill Holding Periods Based on Number of Weekly Operating Days 

ExemJJiar of holdin times with current operating schedule. 
Hold 

s M T w Th F s s M T w Th F s Days 
Open Closed Open Open Open Open Open Open Closed Open Open Open Open Open 
Rec'd Available 5 

Rec'd Available 5 

Rec'd Available 5 

Rec'd Available 5 

Rec'd Available 6 

Rec'd Available 6 

Rec'd Available 6 

5.43 
Avg. 
Hold 

Exemplar of holding times if Department has to implement closure of facilities two days each week. 
Hold 

s M T w Th F s s M T w Th F s Days 
Open Closed Closed Open Open Open Open Open Closed Closed Open Open Open Open 

Rec'd Available 7 

Rec'd Available 6 

Rec'd Available 5 

Rec'd Available 5 

Rec'd Available 7 

Rec'd Available 7 

Rec'd Ava ilable 7 

6.29 
Avg. 
Hold 

Exemplar of holding times if Department has to lm :>lement closure of facilities three days each week. 
Hold 

s M T w Th F s s M T w Th F s Days 

Open Closed Closed Closed Open Open Open Open Closed Closed Closed Open Open Open 

Rec'd Available 8 

Rec'd Available 7 

Rec'd Available 6 

Rec'd Available 5 

Rec'd Available 8 

Rec'd Available 8 

Rec'd Available 8 

7.14 
Avg. 
Hold 



ATTACHMENT 2 

PROPOSED NORTHEAST CARE CENTER SCOPE OF WORK 
AND MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT 

All proposed services exclude all TNR activities. This exclusion is due to the TNR injunction 
which applies to any City of Los Angeles Animal Care Center Services/buildings. As such, any of 
the below services exclude feral cats, Trap/Neuter/Return, or feral cat colony management. 

Best Friends Animal Society's Mission Statement 

To bring about a time when there are No More Homeless Pets. We do this by demonstrating and 
promoting exemplary animal care and building community programs and partnerships. 

Best Friends Animal Society's Guiding Principles 

All Best Friends Animal Society (Best Friends) directors, officers, volunteers, and staff are required to 
observe high standards of business and personal ethics in the conduct of their duties and responsibilities. 
Staff and representatives of Best Friends must practice honesty and integrity in fulfilling their 
responsibilities and comply with all applicable laws and regulations. 

Best Friends Animal Society's Proposed Scope of Work 

I. SPAY/NEUTER AND MEDICAL SERVICES 
A. Surgical Sterilization 

a. Cats and dogs available for adoption in the adoption center 
b. Cats and dogs owned by the public 

B. Emergency Medical Treatment 
C. Care and Release of the Animals 
D. Wellness and Vaccine Clinics 

II. ADOPTION CENTER AND PUBLIC OUTREACH 
A. Ownership of Animals 

a. Animals at the adoption center remain the legal property of the City 
B. Care of the Animals 

a. On average a combined 50 dogs and cats will be housed for and cared at the adoption 
center by Best Friends 

b. Best Friends will be the adoption facilitator providing animal care, training, grooming and 
marketing to find the animals homes 

C. Adoption Fees 
a. Animal Services will be paid a set adoption fee per animals 
b. Animal Services will be paid a license fee and an adoption fee 

D. Marketing Adoption Center Animals 
a. A variety of marketing and communication tactics will be used to assist with animal 

adoptions 
E. Pet Supply Room 

a. Best Friends will have animal supplies on site for sale. These are items that adopters will 
need to transition their animal into their home 

F. Special Events 
a. Adoption Events 
b. Health/Wellness Clinics 

G. Education Classes 
a. Best Friends will provide free education classes 

H. Dog Training Classes: Best Friends will hold training classes at the facility 
a. Cost of the classes will range between free and $40/class 
b. Class sizes will be limited to a size that can be appropriately controlled by a dog trainer 
c. Animals enrolled in classes will be required to be current on vaccinations 
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LOS ANGELES NORTHEAST CARE CENTER 
MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT 

THIS LOS ANGELES NORTHEAST CARE CENTER MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT 
(this "Agreement") is made and entered into as of the date the Office of the City Clerk attests this 
Agreement ("Execution Date"), between the City of Los Angeles (the "City"), a municipal 
corporation and a charter city under the laws of the State of California, acting by and through the 
Department of Animal Services ("Department"), and Best Friends Ani? al Society, a tax-exempt 
non-profit animal welfare organization (the "Operator"), which is ~- · · · ~.?ced to do business in 
the State of California, with regard to the following:. /::~~.;· '· 

.. ~}.~:::: 
RECITALS .4f:/l . 

<~~l~' ~::l:f;} ... 
j\~~ ~~;;~1 +~:~;~~~~:~:-. 

WHEREAS, the City owns the Northeast Ani111~1~fi1:~ Center; ar1Cft~~~1~?~~>. 
~"~~:;Y fi-:~~·:;~~:;"i~>, 

WHEREAS, pursuant to, and under the t,.;;~?' and coq~itions contai~:~~]t~~:;)hat certain 
motion adopted by the City Council of the Cit§" ( ,)?North~i~: Animal Care ®:&'ilter Council 
Action"), the City is authorized to enter into a managerrl&~~~S;.'~~~tracf;··and .;;:> 

WHEREAS, the Department 
spay/neuter surgeries at the Northeast 

<~~:~~l~~~~~~' 
. the Operator to.~f:~,?e animal welfare services and 

Center ("Cat~'B. · ter"); and 
, ·' _, ·.r..;v .• """ ~:~>~ 

WHEREAS, the Operator desires G~hter for the City to provide 
Animal Welfare Services as .... ·.a ...... ..,. "'"'"'"''~'~ 

WHEREAS, 
Services to the pu 

perator the right to provide Animal Welfare 
hereinafter provided; and 

welfare services, veterinary care, and 
ats that are adopted from the Care Center, as well 

in the Los Angeles area; and 

"'~'"v' will augment the Department's ability to provide 
services to adopters and residents in Los Angeles and 

WHEREAS, City has determined that the terms and provisions of this Agreement 
will ensure that the Care Center will be operated, and that Animal Welfare Services will be 
provided in a manner that benefits the public and fulfills the public purposes of the Care Center 
and as such public benefits and public purposes will be preserved. 

NOW THEREFORE, the Parties (as defined herein) covenant and agree as follows: 
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ARTICLE 1 
BASIC PROVISIONS 

Section 1.1. Date and Parties. This Agreement is dated, for reference purposes only, 
July 1, 2011, and is between City and the Operator upon the provisions and conditions contained 
in this Agreement. The City is a municipal corporation and a charter city, organized under the 
laws of the State of California. The Operator is a tax-exempt non-profit animal welfare 
organization, with principal offices at 5001 Angel Canyon Dr. Kanab, Utah 84741. 

Section 1.2. Reserved Powers. The Reserved Powers City are expressly 
reserved to the City for the Term of this Agreement. Any obli['o, .... '"'""~··+" or restrictions imposed by 
this Agreement on the City shall not relate to or otherwise vity of the City in its 
governmental capacity, including, but not limited to, · Northeast Animal 
Care Center, reviewing and issuing permits, and 
enforcement functions of the City pursuant to federal, . 

Section 1.3. Execution Date. The 
Office of the City Clerk of Los Angeles attests this 
that Operator executes this Agreement after such 
execution by Operator shall be the Date. The 
Execution Date. 

date the 

(3) years, and may be 
fiit~rn~~~~!~~~~·fcise the renewal option on the 

TICLE2 

expectations stipulated in this 
option arbitrarily and capriciously. 

"City" in this Agreement shall include 
the Department of Animals Services. 

AND INTERPRETATION 

Unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, 
t the following terms have the following meanings: 

to indicate a relationship with a specified Person, means a Person 
, through one or more intermediaries controls, is controlled by or is 

under common · with such specified Person, and a Person shall be deemed to be controlled 
by another Person, if controlled in any manner whatsoever that results in control in fact by that 
other Person (or that other Person and any Person or Persons with whom that other Person is 
acting jointly or in concert), whether directly or indirectly and whether through share ownership, 
a trust, a contract or otherwise (it being understood and agreed that for the purposes of this 
definition, a managed fund or trust shall be deemed to be an Affiliate of the Person managing 
such fund or trust). 
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"Administrative Code" means the Administrative Code of the City of Los Angeles, as 
amended. 

"Agreement" has the meaning ascribed thereto in the preamble to this Agreement 
(including all schedules referred to herein), as amended from time to time in accordance with the 
terms hereof. 

"Annual Revenues" means, with respect to any Fiscal Year, all gross Fee Revenues and 
all gross Other Operator Revenues. 

~'~~,~'" 

~"-~:>;,r;~::.>~-

"Audit" and similar expressions mean, with respect to any?~~~~r·:;t thing relating to the 
Northeast Animal Care Center, the Northeast Animal Care Cent~~~ ,. , ations or this Agreement, 
the performance by or on behalf of the City of such revie:is: inv . ··. ations, inspections and 
audits relating to such matter or thing as the City may r.~~.ort~~ply det{! J; -~ to be necessary in 
the circumstances, conducted in each case in accordaQ.s:te:'/Wtth applicable :;~::~~d States industry 
accepted practices, if any, or as required by Law. ,.;::$}' '<':i:ijj:~ . 

. <:~:;~~ih '::8;: ·~~~~\~~!:;;:)' 
"Authorization" means any approval, cert1'fi~~t~ .. o(x:~ifi:p~~val, authori~~tion, consent, 

waiver, variance, exemption, declaratory order, excep'fi$)>. ,;}cense; filing, registration, permit, 
notarization or other requirement of . Person that is rea·· .. ·z Jy required from time to time for 
the Northeast Animal Care Center < "~~. 

~ ~.,.<>~ 

"Business Day" 
a holiday by State of 
Whenever under 
condition falls on . 
holiday, such time for 

·o:~~th,:;:::l 
ofth&~~ltty. 

•;:'' )$ 

a Sunday nor a day observed as 
r>.U.l".'-''-"'':~"' or the United States government. 

time for performance of a covenant or 
· alifomia State, or City of Los Angeles 
the next business day. 

Officer of the City or the City Administrative 

thereto in the preamble to this Agreement. 

a written order or directive prepared by or on behalf of the City 
directing the permitted hereby, to (i) add or perform work in respect of 
the Northeast Center in addition to that provided for in this Agreement, or 
(ii) change the , character, quantity, quality, description, location or position of any 
part of the N Care Center or the Northeast Animal Care Center Operations; 
provided, however, that no such order or directive may in any event order or direct the Operator 
to do any act that could reasonably be expected to violate any applicable Law or cause the 
Operator to fail to be in compliance with this Agreement. 

"Consent" means any approval, consent, ratification, waiver, exemption, license, permit, 
novation, certificate of occupancy or other authorization, of any Person, including any Consent 
issued, granted, given, or otherwise made available by or under the authority of any 
Governmental Authority or pursuant to any applicable Law. 
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"Construction Contract" means any construction contract entered into by the Operator 
related to the Northeast Animal Care Center (or subcontracts thereunder). 

"Contractor" means, with respect to a Person, any contractor with whom such Person 
contracts to perform work or supply materials or labor in relation to the Northeast Animal Care 
Center, including any subcontractor of any tier, supplier or materialman directly or indirectly 
employed pursuant to a subcontract with a Contractor. For the avoidance of doubt, the Operator 
shall be a Contractor of the Operator. 

"Days" or "days" as applied in this Agreement to a period ott~~~:il}an ten (1 0) days shall 
mean Business Days; otherwise, "days" shall mean calendar da ::;>· nless ·specifically modified 
herein to be "business" or "working" days. 

-~~~;r- -~~~t~~--
"Encumbrance" means any mortgage, lien, j ...... ,5.';·\~v., .• , <e;xecutiolt~ls::Jige, charge, security 

interest, restriction, easement, servitude, option, ' ' 'lease, uc~$:!ing, claim, trust, 
deemed trust or encumbrance of any nature whether arising bf~gj~ration of Law, 
judicial process, contract, agreement or <::: · 

"Environment" means soil, smtait~w , stream sediments, surface 
or subsurface strata and ambient air. 

· ortheast Animal Care Center 
or relating to (i) the 

or (ii) the regulation, use or 

commencing on July 1 of a calendar year and 

any court, federal, state, local or foreign government, 
agency or other regulatory, administrative, 

authority. 

any and all information relating to the Northeast Animal Care 
statements, balance sheets, statements of cash flow and changes in 

financial position, s regarding Revenues, operating income, expenses, capital expenditures 
and budgeted operating results relating to the Northeast Animal Care Center, (ii) all certificates, 
correspondence, data (including test data), documents, facts, files, information, investigations, 
materials, notices, plans, projections, records, reports, requests, samples, schedules, statements, 
studies, surveys, tests, test results, information analyzed, categorized, characterized, created, 
collected, generated, maintained, processed, produced, prepared, provided, recorded, stored or 
used by the Northeast Animal Care Center, the Operator or any of its Representatives in 
connection with the Northeast Animal Care Center and (iii) proper, complete and accurate books, 
records, accounts and documents of the Operator relating to the Northeast Animal Care Center, 
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including any Information that is stored electronically or on computer-related media; provided, 
however, that nothing in this Agreement shall require the disclosure by any Party of Information 
that is protected by attorney-client or other legal privilege based upon an opinion of counsel 
reasonably satisfactory to the other Party or acquired by a Party subject to a confidentiality 
agreement. 

"Law" or "Laws" includes all federal, state, county, city, or government agency laws, 
statutes, ordinances, standards, rules, requirements, writs, injunctions, decrees, judgments, or 
orders now in force or hereafter enacted, promulgated, or issued, incl_J;J:~ing, without limitation, 
government measures regulating or enforcing public access, oc~M:IJfi-fibrpl, health, or safety 
standards, hazardous materials, or for parking, employers, emplo~~~ or Operators. 

<;p:·~$~~~~/" 

"Loss" means, with respect to any Person, any loss, -k~tilit~~;~::~~:>. -_age, penalty, charge or 
out-of-pocket and documented cost or expense actually !?:~t~re4, or incu ·. by such Person, but 
excluding any punitive, special, indirect and conseque]tlfartfamages and · ,<:: .ontingent liability 

. .;.,y "'8~;.;:-~. 
until such liability becomes actual. .-;~~p ·:,~~~~!~?- . 

...;::~;(;f.fl~~~$?. '\~. :~<-S: ·~;:;:l~ 
"Month" or "Months" shall be deemed to "iti~f- · e th~~ot~al number q:. tlays in such 

"<'ts: ~~ _·:o?)?' ~n ? 

actual month or months. '·~ '':::~;-;;·· 
·~~~~~~~~:>, 

"Municipal Code" means the M • . Code of the Ctf~i~f Los Angeles, as amended . 
• • : ¥

0

;~::~~~~~~::;,;,,~~-;;;}' 
"Notice" means the notice given · Secti6]i~Jf3 .1. and Section 13 .2. 

};Y' 
)--/ 

or commitment to which 
n..u.lHl•l:tl Care Center Operations as 

specifications, policies, procedures and 
otr,~~m#J~~\~JM!D:<fe, and capital improvements to, the Northeast 

any plans submitted by the Operator to 
that any term or provision set forth in Schedule X or 

::o:.==~~ ..._,v,_ ..... ,, .... ., with any term or provision specified in this 
of this Agreement shall govern and shall supersede any 

means a written request in respect of the Northeast Animal Care 
Center prepared by on behalf of the Operator and addressed to the City seeking to make a 
fundamental change in the dimensions, character, quality or location of any part of the Northeast 
Animal Care Center; provided, however, that a Operator Request need not be submitted in 
connection with operations, maintenance, repair or overhaul of the Northeast Animal Care 
Center in the ordinary course or any other aspects of Northeast Animal Care Center Operations 
permitted or reserved to the Operator under this Agreement, including any modification or 
change to the Operating Standards pursuant to Section 5.l(a). 
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"Northeast Animal Care Center Assets" means the personal prope1iy of the City used in 
connection with operations at the Northeast Animal Care Center set forth on Schedule X 

"Northeast Animal Care Center Operations" means (i) the operation, management, 
maintenance and repair of the Northeast Animal Care Center and (ii) all other actions relating to 
the Northeast Animal Care Center that are performed by or on behalf of the Operator pursuant to 
this Agreement. 

"Northeast Animal Care Center Council Action" has the meaniJJ,g ascribed thereto in the 
recitals to this Agreement. /;~$~~:~'>:;~ .. 

~<if~~:-• '·~Y 

"Party" means a party to this Agreement and "Parties" !a~a~~!~-l~ of them. 
(:~~~~~":t ~~;~~~:~>"~, 

"Representative" means, with respect to any P~~§_oti~~any d1 .)!'I· officer, employee, 
official, lender (or any agent or trustee acting on its/:::~e11ID{), ~partner, M~tQ.:Qer, owner, agent, 
lawyer, accountant, auditor, professional advisor, con§tiltant, engineer, Confra6tor, other Person 
for whom such Person is at law responsible o~,::~\.g repreS'e~.ptative of sucift~~~~pft and any 
professional advisor, consultant or engineer designate:a:m~ sucl1:H~t.~on as its "RepWJ•sentative." 

'<:;®~::~i~j;i:f . '•:: .y· 

u ...... , .... ,,15 ascribed tn-e~~w)n Section 1 0.1. 
~<~=~~~~>{. 

"Required Coverages" has the 

"Reserved Powers" means the 
respect to the Northeast Animal Care ~'"'""."'"'' 

the City of ··: -:~;:3!::!,1;d regulatory powers with 
.......... .-.... o :;i~:k'iffic, traffic control and the 

~i>i.t use of the public way. 

Section 2.2. 
plural and vice versa 

income, gross receipts, license, payroll, 
·urn, windfall profits, environmental, 

withholding, social security, unemployment, 
property, parking, sales, use, transfer, 

add-on minimum, estimated or other tax, levy, impost, 
imposition of any kind payable, levied, collected, 
any interest, penalty or addition thereto, whether 

of the management contract refened to in Section 1.4. 

and Gender. In this Agreement words in the singular include the 
words in one gender include all genders. 

Section 2.3. Headings. The division of this Agreement into articles, sections and other 
subdivisions are for convenience of reference only and shall not affect the construction or 
interpretation of this Agreement. The headings in this Agreement are not intended to be full or 
precise descriptions of the text to which they refer and shall not be considered part of this 
Agreement. 
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Section 2.4. References to this Agreement. The words "herein," "hereby," "hereof," 
"hereto" and "hereunder" and words of similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole and not 
to any particular portion of it. The words "Article," "Section," "paragraph," "sentence," "clause" 
and "Schedule" mean and refer to the specified article, section, paragraph, sentence, clause or 
schedule of or to this Agreement. 

Section 2.5. Meaning of Including. In this Agreement, the words "include," "includes" 
or "including" mean "include without limitation," "includes without limitation" and "including 
without limitation," respectively, and the words following "include,'' · ' or "including" 
shall not be considered to set forth an exhaustive list. 

Section 2.6. Meaning of Discretion. In this 
of like import, City and Operator expressly agree that 
unfettered ability to exercise such discretion, including, 
approval, either arbitrarily or otherwise, and with .~w'~-:1.: • .-:.o<, .... 

Party nor any other Person, entity, or tribunal 
review the exercise of such discretion, · 
of approval, or the reasons or lack of reasons therefor. 

Section 2.7. Consents and 
provisions of this Agreement require 
Party, such approval or consent, and any 
writing by the other Party). 

grant or withhold 
Cl~/t:reither the opposite 

po·wer-:~~~;i:::;JJ1Quire into or 
lding 

Section 2.8. ret~feiffcl~S to a Law are considered to be 
a reference to (i) such 
pertaining to or 
recodification or 
similar subject matter. 
right and 
a 

<UH'-'H'-'''-'l\+.from time, (ii) all regulations and rules 
(iii) the successor to the Law resulting from 

........ H·,>:;·r·.:·' all future Laws petiaining to the same or 
"'-'iH"J'"'" shall fetter or otherwise interfere with the 

, apply and enforce any Law in its capacity as 

~· ..,,J ........ .u ..... , .... otherwise, all statements of or references to 
~greernerlt are to the lawful currency of the United States of 

Accepted Accounting Principles. All accounting and financial 
terms used herein, '"''"'""""·aY provided to the contrary, shall be interpreted and applied in 
accordance with E>'"''":'&<""J accepted accounting principles in the United States of America, 
consistently applied. 

Section 2.11.Approvals, Consents and Performance by the City. 

(a) Procedures. Wherever the provisions ofthis Agreement require or provide 
for or permit an approval or consent by the City of or to any action, Person, Document, or other 
matter contemplated by this Agreement, the following provisions shall apply: (i) such request 
for approval or consent must (1) contain or be accompanied by any documentation or 
information required for such approval or consent in reasonably sufficient detail, as reasonably 
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determined by the City, (2) clearly set forth the matter in respect of which such approval or 
consent is being sought, (3) fmm the sole subject matter of the correspondence containing such 
request for approval or consent, and ( 4) state clearly that such approval or consent is being 
sought; (ii) such approval or consent shall not be unreasonably or arbitrarily withheld, 
conditioned or delayed (unless such provision provides that such approval or consent may be 
unreasonably or arbitrarily withheld, conditioned or delayed or is subject to the discretion of the 
City); (iii) the City shall, within such time period set fmth herein (or if no time period is 
provided, within 45 days, subject to the City's right to extend such period for an additional 
15 days) after the giving of a notice by the Operator requesting an or consent, advise 
the Operator by notice either that it consents or approves or Ids its consent or 
approval, in which latter case it shall (unless such provision that such approval or 
consent may be unreasonably or arbitrarily withheld, · ayed or is subject to the 
discretion of the City) set forth, in reasonable detail, its its consent or 
approval, which reasons may include the · the City acting 
reasonably, of the information or notice 
mentioned in clause (iii) of this ection 2.11 
consent, the Operator may take whatever steps 
City set out in the responding notice and, thereupon, 
consent from time to time and the provisions of this 
time as the approval or consent of City is finally 
withholding of consent mentioned in of this 
determined pursuant to Article 12 to have 
such approval or consent shall be 
determination; and (vi) for the avoidance of 
approval has been ld, cm1at:~.fOJ1e0 
with the provisions 

to whether or not a consent or 
shall be resolved in accordance 

be 
nPT'P",'" o,'r. 'this Agreement provides that an act is to 

to be given by the City, unless specified 
required by Law, the City Charter, the 

Code, such act may be taken or performed or approval or 
w;r(nm.u· further action by the City Council of the City and the 

(c) 1ncurnrenrs. Subject to the other provisions hereof, wherever in 
this Agreement consent is required with respect to any document, proposal, 
certificate, plan, .c61:>1J'-''"'u . ..., .. ,,.v,,., contract, agreement, budget, schedule, report or other 
written instrument (a "Document"), following such Approval such Document shall 
not be amended, Ipr;~erne11te,d, replaced, revised, modified, altered or changed in any manner 
whatsoever without obtaining a further Approval in accordance with the provisions of this 
Section 2.12. 

Section 2.12. Schedules and Exhibits. In the event of any conflict between the terms of 
this Agreement and the terms of the Schedules and Exhibits attached to this Agreement, the 
terms of this Agreement shall control. 
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ARTICLE3 
TERMS OF THE MANAGEMENT CONTRACT 

Section 3.1. Quiet Enjoyment. 

(a) Quiet Enjoyment. The City agrees that, the Operator shall, at all times 
during the Term, be entitled to and shall have the quiet possession and enjoyment of the 
Northeast Animal Care Center and the rights and privileges granted to the Operator 
hereunder, subject to (i) the Reserved Powers, (ii) the City's upon a Operator 
Default, and (iii) the provisions contained in this · · . ity and the Operator 
acknowledge that the Operator's rights to use the Animal Care Center as a 
public animal care center and charge fees, in with the terms of this 
Agreement, to monitor compliance with this that the Northeast 
Animal Care Center is used and operated Unless 
expressly so stated in writing by the 
Representatives onto the Northeast Animal 
Agreement shall not constitute a 
enjoyment contained in this Agreement. 
defend its title to the Northeast Animal Care 

Section 3.2. 

se'i$;D(~crttC<lll) provided herein, including without 
Section 3 .16, the Operator shall, at all 

all aspects of the Northeast Animal Care 
Animal Care Center Operations to be 

the provisions of this Agreement and applicable Law 
may contest the application of any Law by 

nP,r<>u-.r shall, at all times during the Term, cause the 
to open and operational in accordance with the 

use by the public for Animal Welfare Purposes, except as 
, as necessary to comply with any other requirement of this 

closures related to the performance of maintenance or repair 
r~ef.fii~~~(l by the Operating Standards) or as necessary for temporary closures 

onr""''"'S emergencies, public safety or temporary events. 

(b) Costs and Expenses. Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, 
the Operator shall, at all times during the Term, pay or cause to be paid all costs, 
expenses, and taxes relating to the Northeast Animal Care Center Operations as and 
when the same are due and payable. 

(c) Scope of Services. The Operator shall be the sole operator of the Northeast 
Animal Care Center and shall operate the Northeast Animal Care Center according to all 
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federal, state, and local laws; shall provide spay/neuter services for all adopted animals 
and animals owned by members of the public, and related veterinary medical services; 
shall provide all staffing, equipment, and supplies; shall obtain all permits, licenses, and 
registrations required to operate the Northeast Animal Care Center; and shall coordinate 
with Department staff to provide these services, as stipulated in Schedule X. 

(d) Operational Requirements. Operator shall maintain at all times an 
approved written protocol detailing all procedures, including, but not limited to animal 
handling, vaccination, anesthesia surgery guidelines, and drug This protocol 
must be available for review and approval by the D ·on of this 
Agreement and at all times during its term. The Operator. 
public area at all times. 

shall obtain, at its own expense, all 
of the Northeast Animal Care Center, 
cleaning agents, microchips, tools, 

, and any other necessary tools, instruments, supplies, 
':l:t!i~tat<)r sli~~:~~titiiltaJm in good working order, at its own expense, all 

· · of the Northeast Animal Care Center, and shall ensure 
equipment does not unreasonably interrupt its services. 

(g) Purchase Option. At the end of the term of this Agreement, 
and upon Department may purchase from the Operator, at a mutually-
agreed price consistent with equipment of comparable age and use, 
Operator's used in the operation of the Northeast Animal Care Center. 
However, the Department shall be under no obligation to make such purchases. 

(h) Cost of Supplies, Services, And Personnel. The cost of setting up, staffing, 
maintaining and performing services under this Agreement shall be the Operator's sole 
responsibility. 

Page 10 



Section 3.3. Maintenance and Repair. 

(a) Maintenance and Security. The Department of General Services shall 
maintain in good order, condition, and repair the Northeast Animal Care Center and 
every part thereof, including, but not limited to: windows and plate glass windows; 
interior and exterior walls; floors and ceilings; interior and exterior doors; fixtures; 
electrical facilities and equipment; plumbing fixtures and plumbing; and restrooms, the 
Department of General Services agrees to maintain and repair, at the Department of 
General Services1 sole cost and expense, all of the of General Services 
improvements at the Northeast Animal Care Center. The may not change the 
locks without the prior written consent of the General Services, which 
consent shall be in the Department of General absolute discretion, and 
which consent shall require that the Department of and the Deprutment 
be provided with a complete set of all new keys. ,4~:;':·, 

.,~.;:~:·t::::;:·•:-~~,~<;; ;~:-· ~-

(b) Janitorial. The Operator shall*~:~· respon,sible for for 
its ownjanitoriallcleaning!housekeeping.~~,::>"h .. sand t~§h collection. shall 
keep clean the Northeast Animal Care Center· ·N.:ie~9:tf;:P'att thereof, · but not 
limited to, windows, interior walls, floors and cefif' <·.)", doors, fixtures, appliances, plate 
glass windows and restrooms. Operator shalf· ptly remove all non-hazardous 
trash and waste generated from i · 

(c) No Repair Obl . Depart,;. ent of General Services. 
Notwithstanding 
Northeast .--........ < •. 1,6~':' 
Department 
replace, ""'"'.(>'"'><;, 

event the 

· · obligation to maintain the 
as stipulated in Section 6J, the 

no further obligation to repair, remodel, 
the Northeast Animal Care Center. In the 

·purposes provided herein, the Department 
Operator agrees they shall meet and discuss 

the Northeast Animal Care Center to a usable 
. be reached however, the Operator1s sole remedies shall be 

its own expense or to terminate this Agreement upon 
and provide a copy to the Department, and the 

, whether in damages or in specific performance. 

(d) By the Department of General Services. Without limiting 
any rights otherwise have under this Agreement, the Department of General 
Services reserves the right from time to time, subject to its use of reasonable 
efforts to "'"""'"""'" interference with Operator1s use and occupancy of the Northeast 
Animal Care Center and without compensation to Operator for inconvenience or 
otherwise: 

(i) To install, use, maintain, repair, replace and relocate pipes, ducts, conduits, 
wires, fixtures and appurtenant meters and equipment for service to the Northeast 
Animal Cru·e Center and/or other parts of the building, in which case the City 
shall have responsibility for the disturbance, if any, of asbestos resulting 
therefrom; and 
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(ii) To make changes to the Northeast Animal Care Center's design and layout, 
including without limitation, changes in the location, size, shape and number of 
entrances, loading and unloading areas, ingress, egress, direction of traffic, 
walkways, and parking areas. 

Section 3.4. No Encumbrances. The Operator shall not do any act or thing that will 
create any Encumbrance against the Northeast Animal Care Center and shall promptly remove 
any Encumbrance against the Northeast Animal Care Center, unless ";1:'!::1,:':1:-"'"' brance came into 

......... ~§·•~''"'""u,~6 through it which in existence as a result of an act of or omission by the City or a 
turn was not caused by an act or omission of the Operator. 
be in default hereunder if the Operator continuously, dil.·~' ,..,u, .... :r 
such Encumbrance, or the validity thereof (or causes 
proceedings that shall operate to prevent the foreclosure 
the Operator has given (i) advance notification to 
contest the validity or collection thereof or 
security is provided in connection with such '"'"''"'6 """ 

deposit with the City a Letter of Credit, title 
indemnity bond, surety bond, cash or Eligible 
an amount equal to the amount of the · 
court costs, or other charges as the City rrii;i~l;\~~ 
the conclusion of such contest or as 

shall not be deemed to 
good faith contests any 
, by appropriate legal 

ttmf,~:N;<:mc~e,provided that 
the Operator to 

or other 
maemniz~~:§;y;:~,_ City or 

(or instrument), 
satisfactory to the City in 

such interest and penalties, 
le by the Operator at 
over any potential 

Credit, cash or Eligible 
''"";.;,,,,.,h claim or other imposition 
returned to the Operator, less any 

nrrlt'>l1rP such release or discharge, or any loss, COSt, 
by the City by virtue of the contest of 

and Perform Work on the Northeast 

s. The City reserves (for itself and any of its 
during the Term, have the right to enter the Northeast 

every part thereof at all reasonable times and upon reasonable 
the following at the City's own cost and expense (other than if 

(i) inspect the Northeast Animal Care Center or determine whether or not 
the Operator is in compliance with its obligations under this Agreement or applicable Law; 

(ii) if a Operator Default then exists, to make any necessary repairs to the 
Northeast Animal Care Center and perform any work therein pursuant to Section 13.l(b)(iii); 

(iii) in the event of an emergency or danger that threatens to cause injury to 
individuals (or damage to property) or to impair the continuous operation of the Northeast 
Animal Care Center and if the Operator is not then taking all necessary steps to rectify or deal 
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with said emergency or danger, to take actions as may be reasonably necessary to rectify such 
emergency or danger (in which case, no notice shall be necessary); 

(iv) as may be necessary to design, construct, operate, service, manage, 
maintain, repair, rehabilitate or replace any Affected Property owned or controlled by the City 
that is located within or adjacent to the Center, including, without limitation, congestion, 
management equipment and signage, utilities and storage and maintenance facilities located 
within portions of the Affected Property that are located within the Center; 

(v) to design, construct, operate, service, maintain, repmr, 
rehabilitate or replace any Affected Property; 

(vi) to (A) install, design, manage, 
existing or future utilities or similar services (whether 
City's instruction) in, on, under, across, over or 
(including water and sewer lines, power 
communications and other equipment), (B) 
the Northeast Animal Care Center for the ~~ .. ~u· 
services and (C) use the Northeast Animal Care Center 
design, management, maintenance, · 
foregoing clauses (A), ill} and !£}, 
Term, to install, design, manage, ... ~, .... ,~ ... , 

and rehabilitate any 
third parties at the 

Care Center 
cable, other 
: or within 

of any.. . utilities or 
with any such installation, 

that notwithstanding the 
at all times during the 

!il:~J:Jt~~~;:;;:, or other services for its 
own account (and not for lease, resale 
utilities or services are necessary for the 

the extent that the said 
r.rrtr~''"""l' ~tff'tllf~~f£~!~ei1ter Operations); and 

(vii) 
that the City may ~~:~~1$1~~~~ 
however, that the 
access and the City .:,. ..... "'-"'»"'·· 

Animal ~~ifW~~~ill~s 

hereof, do any other act or thing 
ght to do under this Agreement.; provided, 

any payments to the Operator for such 
minimize interference with the Northeast 
any entry on the Northeast Animal Care 

. Any reservation of a right by the City and any of 
• ...., .. uuyo, mortgagees, licensees and others claiming by, through or 

Animal Care Center and to make or perform any repairs, 
work in, to, above, or about the Northeast Animal Care Center 

.Ji:ii<.'"'"vu pursuant to this Agreement, shall not be deemed to (i) impose 
do so, (ii) render the City liable to the Operator or any other Person 

for the failure to do (iii) relieve the Operator from any obligation to indemnify the City as 
otherwise provided in this Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement shall impose any duty upon 
the part of the City to do any work required to be performed by the Operator hereunder and 
performance of any such work by the City and any of their Representatives, grantees, tenants, 
mortgagees, licensees and others claiming by, through or under the City shall not constitute a 
waiver of the Operator's default in failing to perf01m the same. 

Section 3.6. Payment of Taxes. The Operator shall pay when due all Taxes payable 
during the Term in respect of the operations at or conduct of business in or from the Northeast 
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Animal Care Center, including any Taxes imposed on customers of the Northeast Animal Care 
Center as required by the applicable Law. 

Section 3. 7. Los Angeles City Business Tax. Operator represents that it will obtain 
and will hold from the time of Closing through the End Date, the Business Tax Registration 
Certificate(s) required by the City's Business Tax Ordinance, Section 21.00 et seq. of the Los 
Angeles Municipal Code. For the Term of this Agreement, Operator shall maintain, or obtain as 
necessary, all such Certificates required of it under the Business Tax Ordinance, and shall not 
allow any such Certificate to be revoked or suspended. 

,<:::~f~;::::~~> 0 

Section 3.8. Utilities. The Operator shall pay when .dtl~ all charges (including all 
applicable Taxes and fees) for telephone and other utilities ~~t~~~~fes used in the Northeast 
Animal Care Center Operations or supplied to the Northea;~-' Anim'ij~~:~are Center during the 
Term. Up~n request ofthe Cit_Y, the ~perator shall 0 

_ ·~ ... 1~e City;'~~fii:~ 15 day~ following 
the respective due dates, offic1alrecetpts, or other eV1l;f!i?~9e satisfactory to 
the City, acting reasonably, of the payment by the Ope~~l~:)n apcordance 
with this Section 3.7. The City shall pay when all -~Ri~chble Taxes 
and fees) for gas, electricity, and water supplied to . Care C~ffter during the 
Term. The City does not warrant that any utility free from interruptions caused 
by war, insurrection, civil commotion, · acts of God, action, terrorism, repairs, 
renewals, improvements, alterations, lockouts, whether legal or illegal, 
accidents, inability to obtain fuel or supp other any such interruption of 
utility services in and of itself shall never the Operator's use of the 
Northeast Animal Care Center, or render for damages or relieve 
the Operator from the this Agreement. 

Operator shall promptly give 
that a Default has occurred under this 

give such notice shall not constitute an 
proceedings, disputes (including labor 

Operator pertaining to the Northeast Animal Care Center 
Center Operations (whether or not such claim, 
) of which the Operator is aware (other than as a 

the City). The Operator shall provide the City with all 
""'r"'"'"'""'" by it from time to time concerning the status of such claims, 

and Advertisements. 

(a) Names. The Operator shall not have the right to sell, lease, or license any 
naming rights for the Northeast Animal Care Center. The City reserves the right at its sole 
discretion to change the names, logos, or marks for the Northeast Animal Care Center and 
Operator shall have the right to use, and shall use, such names, logos, or marks for the Northeast 
Animal Care Center, without charge under this provision. 
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(b) Advertisements. The Operator shall have the right to provide advertising 
space in and about the Center provided that all advertisements shall comply with (i) the 
advertising policy of the City and (ii) shall be subject to the Approval of the City. 

Section 3.11. Police, Fire~ Emergency and Public Safety Access Rights. At all times 
during the Term and without notice to the Operator (i) any police, fire and emergency services 
and any other security or emergency personnel retained by or on behalf of the City shall have 
access, as required by such services or personnel, to the Northeast Animal Care Center; (ii) the 
City shall have access, as required by the City, to the Nmiheast · Center as necessary 
for the protection of public safety; provided, however, that · City for purposes 
of determining whether or not the Operator is in compliance 'ts obligations under this 
Agreement or applicable Law shall be undertaken pursuant ; and (iii) any 
Governmental Authority with jurisdiction over the N Center shall have 
access to the Northeast Animal Care Center 
homeland security purposes, including the 
emergency. 

Section 3.12. Payments by the City. that if 
the City is required under applicable Law of general a1J1l$Jil~rati1on 

payment that the City is obligated to to the Operator 
deemed to have satisfied such · to the ·~¥/J·"""''""'Tf . ..,. 
withholding by the City. 

Section 3.13. Operating 
and expense, wishes to 
Standards adopted in 
operating standards 
be accompanied 
relevant supporting HHIJ~ ... 

If the Operator, at its cost 
............. ,_ ... s other than the Operating 

provide notice of such proposed 
,.,....,.,..,T,. .. ~s proposed operating standards must 

~ .• ,, ..... ,,.., for making its proposal and all 
studies, investigations and other materials 

s proposed operating standards are reasonably 
the applicable Operating Standards. The City may request 

cates, reports, studies, investigations and other 
the City to determine if the Operator's proposed 

gned to achieve the objectives of the applicable Operating 
::>er~ttor's proposed operating standards may be withheld, delayed 

or conditioned reasonably determines that the Operator's proposed operating 
standards are not designed to achieve the objectives of the applicable Operating 
Standards. Until provides its Approval for the implementation of the Operator's 
proposed operating , the Operator shall not implement the proposed operating standards 
and shall implement and comply with the Operating Standards. The Operator's proposed 
operating standards shall be deemed incorporated into the Operating Standards upon Approval 
by the City in accordance with the terms hereof. 

Section 3.14. Operating Standards - City Changes. The City shall have the right, at 
any time during the Term, to modify or change the Operating Standards upon notice to the 
Operator to (i) comply with any new Law applicable to the Northeast Animal Care Center 
Operations or (ii) conform the Operating Standards to standards or practices generally adopted 
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with respect to City Animal Care Centers. In the event the City modifies the Operating 
Standards in accordance with the immediately preceding sentence, the City, at its cost and 
expense, shall perform all work required to implement and shall comply with all such 
modifications and changes and in no event shall the Operator be excused from compliance with 
any such modification or change. For the avoidance of doubt, the Operator will have the right to 
challenge any modified Operating Standard pursuant to Article 12 on the basis that it does not 
meet either of the requirements set forth above. 

Section 3.15. Public Purpose Requirements. ~~>~ 

1-<:~;,~~~;:~::;\j.:,' 

(a) The Parties agree that during the Term of .. <t:;:Agr~·iment the City retains 
its Reserved Powers to enforce this Agreement and the Oper~f ndards to ensure that the 
Northeast Animal Care Center will be dedicated and used at :;lll"'time· ·., · ublic benefit purposes 
intended to promote and protect the health, safety and ~,o~.anima · eople. 

(b) In order to assure that the 
operate in a manner that benefits the public 
Section 3.14(a), the Northeast Animal Care Center 

Section 3.16. Leases, 
provisions of all leases, covenants 
between the provisions of this 
Center, the provisions of the leases, 

Operator must comply with the 
and in case of any conflict 

easements on any of the 

required to 
therewith). 
has been 

,.,,<rr"""Q't'"'" wishes at any time during the Term 

~-~~~f~!:~~a~ , quality or location of any part of the 
,, may submit to the City, for Approval, a 
change and shall submit to the City for its Approval 

. Changes that are non-structural in nature shall not 
The Operator shall be responsible for all amounts 

Operator Request (and any Losses incurred in connection 
shall be implemented unless and until such Operator Request 

u .... ,.. ... .., of Modifications. Subject to the other provisions of this 
Article 4, the · shall ensure that Approved Operator Requests are performed in a good 
and workmanlike manner and diligently complied with and implemented in such manner that the 
costs and delays relating thereto are minimized. 
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ARTICLE 5 
ALTERATIONS AND IMPROVEMENTS 

Section 5.1. Alterations and Improvements. 

(a) City Approval. With the prior written approval of City, Operator may 
make alterations and improvements to the Center ("Alterations") which do not affect the 
(i) exterior appearance of the Center, or (ii) structural aspects of the Center, as long as Operator 
pays for the entire cost of such Alterations, and as long as agrees to remove said 
Alterations upon the expiration or termination ofthe Agreement, if by the City. Any 
time Operator proposes to make such Alterations, Operator shall 1ty with prior written 
notice of the proposed Alterations, together with the plans . Notwithstanding 
anything to the contrary set forth above, Operator may City's prior written 
consent but after thirty (30) days' notice to City, not require any 
structural or any substantial modification to the Systems, 
(iii) do not affect the exterior appearance of the of Fifty 
Thousand Dollars ($50,000), Adjusted for lntJlatliQfi<~tt~lm 

(b) "Structure Systems" -
"Structure Systems" shall mean any ....... '¥! .. ""'' 

cable, wires, and other equipment, 
designed to supply heat, ventilation, 
utilities, or comprising or serving as any 
plumbing, sprinkler, communications, alarm,·· 
any other mechanical, electronic, · 

the phrase 
work, conduit, pipe, bus duct, 

extent within the Center, 
any other services or 

the electrical, gas, steam, 
,M~""~,,~·J systems or equipment, or 

systems or equipment which 
however, such equipment, facilities, and service the Center in 

systems which 
security, and 

Uoet,Qtor with respect to communications, alarm, 

extent that such 
cori~'€1~ft~d part of the Structure Systems to the 

may be accessed and altered without 

City may impose reasonable requirements as a 
or repairs of the Center or about the Center, including, 

upon City's request, Operator shall, at Operator's 
upon the expiration or any early termination of the Term, 

tn::!.JZ.espe(~I to work on the Structure Systems, that Operator utilize for 
such purposes , materials, mechanics, and material providers approved by City. 
City may require to provide City, at Operator's sole cost and expense, a lien and 
completion bond in amount equal to one and one-half times the estimated cost of such 
improvements, to insure City against any liability for claims or purported mechanic's and 
materialmen's liens and to insure completion of the work. Operator shall construct such 
Alterations and perform such repairs in conformance with any and all applicable rules and 
regulations of any federal, state, county or municipal code or ordinance and pursuant to a valid 
building permit, issued by the City, in conformance with City's reasonable construction rules and 
regulations. All work with respect to any Alterations must be done in a good and professional 
manner and diligently prosecuted to completion to the end that the Premises shall at all times be 
a complete unit except during the period of work. In performing the work of any such 
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Alterations, Operator shall have the work performed in such manner as not to obstruct access to 
the Center. Upon completion of any Alterations, Operator agrees at the request of City to cause 
a Notice of Completion to be recorded in the office of the Recorder of the County of Los 
Angeles in accordance with Section 3093 of the California Civil Code or any successor statute, 
and Operator shall deliver to City a reproducible copy of the "as-built" drawings, if any, of the 
Alterations. 

(d) Construction Insurance. In the event Operator makes any Alterations, 
Operator agrees to carry "Builder's All Risk" insurance in an equal to the value of 
construction and materials on hand. 

(e) Payment For Alterations. under this Article 5 is 
performed by City and/or City's contractor, the charges tor~i;S:t:'tch 

sixty (60) days of the receipt by Operator of a ....... .L."""~ .. ·~ 
be payable within 

..• and billing therefor 
~~~ is performed upon the substantial completion of such work. Where 

by Operator or Operator's contractor, upon 
City, where applicable, evidence of payment, '-'UllXt><=-tluJ. 

deliver to 
·vers of 

all liens for labor, services, and materials. 

(f) Ownership of A 
may be installed or placed in or about 
Operator, and any Alterations, fixtures, 
of the Premises by Operator shall be and ~ec:om:e::: 

.._.,., ... ,_,. after the vacation 

. Provided, however, if 
that Operator remove any 

then unless City agrees in 
"'"''"'-""'"' such Alterations and to repair 

If Operator fails to complete such removal or 

City, as a condition to City's consent to 
Alteration upon the · early tentrt1tm~1:un 

writing otherwise, 
any damage to the ':-'~~;;!;~t:. 
to repair any uu.•au~";'-' c:1~;ea 
the cost thereof to 

City may do so and may charge 

Operator shall pay, when due, all claims for labor or 
furnished to or for Operator at or for use in the 

and/or purport to be secured by any mechanic's or 
, or any interest therein. If Operator fails to pay such 

shall, in good faith, contest the validity of any such lien, claim 
or demand, at its sole expense, defend itself and City against the same and 
shall pay and adverse judgment that may be rendered thereon before the 
enforcement thereof the City or the Center, upon the condition that if City shall require, 
Operator shall City a surety bond satisfactory to City in an amount equal to such 
contested lien, claim or demand indemnifying City against liability for the same and holding the 
Northeast Animal Care Center property free from the effect of such lien or claim. In addition, 
City may require Operator to pay City's reasonable attorneys' fees and costs in participating in 
such action if City shall decide it is to City's best interest so to do. 

(h) Nonresponsibility and Work Commencement Notices. City shall have the 
right at all times to post and keep posted on the Center any notices permitted or required by law, 
or which City shall deem proper for the protection of City and the Center, and any other party 
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having an interest therein, from liens, and Operator shall give to City at least ten (1 0) business 
days prior written notice of the expected date of commencement of and work relating to 
Alterations or additions to the Center. 

(i) Failure to Comply with Conditions_ Should Operator make any 
Alterations without the prior approval of City, or, where required, use a contractor not expressly 
approved by City, or otherwise fail to comply with the conditions of this Article 5, City may, at 
any time during the Term, require that Operator remove any part or all of the same. 

~~~:~i~~~;~~ :- ',' 
~:::.~~~:~~ . v,~~> 

ARTICLE 6 ,.::il 
FEES; REVENUES .;#~5@h:-. 

~;;;::~~;; ~ '<~::~~~::;~;}. 
Section 6.1. Fee Revenues. The Operator shalJ~at:;iJl timei:a;~g the Term, (i) have 

the right to establish, collect and enforce payment of ('#~§'"t%ith''tespect tJ:~ij~>;Northeast Animal 
Care Center in accordance with the provisions of /"tie 6 of this Agreem~::::::·~:· . d (ii) have the 
right, title, entitlement and interest in all Fees ch_ i y or on;:;behalf of the cY '· ' ·>in respect 
to the use of the Northeast Animal Care Center cftiriri , j<'R1;1[ the Term of.~:~·1s Agreement 
the Fees shall not exceed the rates set forth in ScH · Maximum Fed Adjusted for 
Inflation from the Closing Date. 

Section 6.2. Fee Rate N 
,, 

shall p · ~;:to the City, no later than 
the end of each fiscal year, notice of the 
provided at the Northeast Animal Care 'L>'-'J'""'~'~ 

charg .:: y the Operator for services 
iffclude the rates and rate types 

· the next fiscal year. Such 
for informational purposes and, 

----·G·.o...=='--"- and Schedule X, such rates may be 

charged during the prior and 
notice shall be 

without notice to the City. Consistent 
Schedule X, Operator may charge different 

discretion, including variable rates, weekday, 
be determined by the Operator. 

ARTICLE 7 
G; AUDITS; INSPECTIONS 

(a) Management and Notifications. The Operator shall provide 
notice to the City wi 24 hours of all emergencies, and promptly provide notice to the City of 
all accidents and incidents occurring on or at the Northeast Animal Care Center, and of all claims 
in excess of $50,000 made by or against the Operator, or potential claims in excess of $50,000 
that the Operator reasonably expects to make against, or to be made against it by, third parties. 

(b) Environmental Incident Management and Notifications. The Operator 
shall provide notice to the City within 24 hours following the Operator's becoming aware of the 
discharge, dumping, spilling (accidental or otherwise) of any reportable quantity, as defined 
under applicable Environmental Law, of Hazardous Substances occurring on or at the Northeast 
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Animal Care Center and the location at which the incident has occuned, the time, the agencies 
involved, the damage that has occuned and the remedial action taken. 

(c) Financial Reports. Until the End Date, the Operator shall deliver to the 
City (i) within 130 days of the end of each calendar Year, a copy of audited financial statements 
of Best Friends Animal Society, including its Statement of Financial Position, Statement of 
Activities, Statement of Cash Flows, and Notes to the Financial Statements with the report of the 
independent certified public accountant. Such financial statements shall reflect the consistent 
application of such accounting principles throughout the periods involv [1, except as disclosed in 
the notes to such financial statements. ' '::\ 

Section 7.2. Information. 

(a) Furnish Information. 
Operator's cost and expense and at any and all tv.::L~Js:~,paoJt 
available or cause to be made available (and, if 
furnished) to the City all Information relating 
this Agreement or the Northeast Animal Care 
shall be in the possession or control of the Operator 
City, after giving 10 Business Days' · notice to the 
persons the City requests to be present 
the subject matter to be raised in the 
this Agreement with any of the directors, 
Operator or their respective 
right to be present 
Operator), for the 
compliance with 
conduct or City 
avoidance of doubt, this 
otherwise .. "''~',;""' 

disclosure is required by applicable Law, the City 
from the Operator or its Representatives that 

Act, California Government Code, constitutes trade 
information (A) where the trade secrets or commercial or 
, privileged or confidential, or (B) where disclosure of the 

trade secrets or . or financial information may cause competitive harm and (ii) is 
designated as such in writing to the City; provided, however, that the City shall 
have the right to , in its reasonable discretion, whether the California Public Records 
Act applies to any such Information; provided further that in the event the City determines that 
the California Public Records Act does not apply to any such Information, the City shall provide 
reasonable notice to, and shall consult with, the Operator prior to disclosure of such Information. 
In the event that the Operator requests the City to defend an action seeking the disclosure of 
Information that the City determines to be confidential pursuant to this Section 7(b) the Operator 
shall reimburse the City for the reasonable costs and expenses (including attorneys' fees of the 
prevailing party) incurred by the City in defending any such action. 
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Section 7.3. Inspection, Audit and Review Rights of the City. 

(a) Audit Right. In addition to the rights set out in Section 7.2, the City may, 
at all reasonable times, upon 10 Business Days' prior notice, except in the case of investigations 
of possible criminal conduct or City ordinance violations, in which case no prior notice shall be 
required, cause a Representative designated by it to, carry out an Audit of the Information 
required to be maintained or delivered by the Operator under this Agreement in connection with 
the performance ofthe Northeast Animal Care Center Operations for the purpose of verifying the 
information contained therein and shall be entitled to make copies and to take extracts 
therefrom, at the City's expense, but, in any event, subject to The Operator, at 
the cost and expense of the Operator, shall, at reasonable · available or cause to be 
made available to the City or its designated Representative and material as may 
reasonably be required by the City or its designated for its purposes and 
otherwise provide such cooperation as may be City in connection 
with the same. 

(b) Inspection Right. The 
times and upon reasonable prior notice, have acces 
every part thereof and the Operator, at the reasonable 
shall cause its Representatives to, · City with 
the Northeast Animal Care Center and 
purpose of Auditing 
applicable Law. 

t{:ecoreseilta1rJ:"M{¥s shall, with the prior consent of 
or delayed), except in the 

"'"_. ...... ..,,..,~~v_. City ordinance violations, in which case no 
expense of the City, and at any time 

:2DE~rtcJmled any test, study or investigation in 
or the Northeast Animal Care Center 

determine to be necessary in the circumstances and the 
1"'1'n"r·<>t-r• .. , shall, and shall cause its Representatives to, 

reasonable assistance in connection with the carrying 
investigations. 

Failure by the City or its Representatives to inspect, review, 
responsibilities under this Agreement or any part thereof or the 

Information, shall a waiver of any of the rights of the City hereunder or any of the 
obligations or liabi of the Operator hereunder. Inspection, review, testing or Audit not 
followed by a notice of Operator Default shall not constitute a waiver of any Operator Default or 
constitute an acknowledgement that there has been or will be compliance with this Agreement 
and applicable Law. 

(e) No Undue Interference. In the course of performing its inspections, 
reviews, tests and Audits hereunder, the City shall minimize the effect and duration of any 
disruption to or impairment of the Northeast Animal Care Center Operations or the Operator's 
rights or responsibilities under this Agreement, having regard to the nature of the inspections, 
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reviews, tests and Audits being performed, except as necessary in the case of investigations of 
possible criminal conduct or City ordinance violations. 

Section 7.4. Audits, Assistance, Inspections and Approvals. Wherever in this 
Agreement reference is made to the City or its Representatives providing assistance, services, 
Approvals or consents to or on behalf of the Operator or its Representatives or to the City or its 
Representatives performing an Audit or inspecting, testing, reviewing or examining the 
Northeast Animal Care Center, the Northeast Animal Care Center Operations or any part thereof 
or the books, records, documents, budgets, proposals, requests, proc res, certificates, plans, 
drawings, specifications, contracts, agreements, schedules, reports, io~,_other instruments of 
the Operator or its Representatives, such undertaking by the Citx.- ·· Representatives shall not 
relieve or exempt the Operator from, or represent a waivx~%} y requirement, liability, 
Operator Default, covenant, agreement or obligation under tnil greenf~'nt or at law or in equity 
and shall not create or impose any requirement, (~~h:enant:"'i~~?:" ment or obligation 
(including an obligation to provide other assi or Approva · . ull the City or its 
Representatives not otherwise created or impo the expres~t'i~W"!siops of this 

'\."iV"..;~p~.::;,i ~ /,.~,' 

Agreement. ·<~f~??:·· 
,)'t~;f 

Section 8.1. 

Care Center nor 
permit any such 

at all times at its own cost 
the Northeast Animal Care 

with all applicable Laws now 
or N miheast Animal Care Center 

in this Article 8. The Operator must 
from a Governmental Authority that the 

In Use Of Premises. There shall be no 
H<lTlnnc•nT any person, or group of persons, on account of race, 

sex, sexual orientation, age, physical handicap, marital status, 
condition in the use, occupancy, tenure, or enjoyment of the 

or any operations or activities conducted on the Northeast Animal 
or any person claiming under or through Operator establish or 

practices of discrimination or segregation. 

(b) Non-Discrimination In Employment. Operator agrees and obligates itself 
in the performance of this Agreement not to discriminate against any employee or applicant for 
employment because of the employee's or applicant's race, religion, national origin, ancestry, 
sex, sexual orientation, age, physical handicap, marital status, domestic partner status, or medical 
condition. 

(c) Equal Employment Practices. This Agreement is a contract with or on 
behalf of the City of Los Angeles for which the consideration is $1,000 or more, Accordingly, 
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during the performance ofthis Agreement, Operator further agrees to comply with Section 10.8.3 
of the Administrative Code ("Equal Employment Practices"). By way of specification but not 
limitation, pursuant to Sections 10.8.3.E and 10.8.3.F ofthe Los Angeles Administrative Code, 
the failure of Operator to comply with the Equal Employment Practices provisions of this 
Agreement may be deemed to be a material breach of this Agreement No such finding shall be 
made or penalties assessed except upon a full and fair hearing after notice and an opportunity to 
be heard has been given to Operator. Upon a finding duly made that Operator has failed to 
comply with the equal employment practices provisions of this Agreement, this Agreement may 
be forthwith terminated. 

(d) Affirmative Action Program. This 
contract with or on behalf of the City for which the 
Accordingly, during the performance ofthis Agreement, 

a non-construction 
$100,000 or more. 

to comply with 
By way of 

Los Angeles 
Program 

Section 1 0.8.4 of the Administrative Code ("Mlli!~~~h£QQ!l_lj~~!f 
specification but not limitation, pursuant to "'"'''t'r-'!'·--""'··~ 
Administrative Code, the failure of Operator to 
provisions of this Agreement may be deemed t~;J~·:lj~~~~,,m~tter reernent. No 
such finding shall be made or penalties assessed ,.v.-.-r.~li5i:inn.n 
and an opportunity to be heard has been given to 
Operator has breached the · Program 
Agreement may be forthwith terminated. 

(e) vviJlivU.~_·} • .,·subject to Section 1 0.8.2.1, 
. ·: 'Equal Benefits Provisions") 

with the provisions of Section 
to Section 1 0.8.2.1.c of the 

with the Equal Employment Practices 
material breach of this Agreement. No 

.·lo<"·"''-'IJ• upon a full and fair hearing after notice 
to Operator. Upon a finding duly made that 

Equal Employment Practices provisions of this 
,~,v;·c .... terminated. 

Worker Retention Ordinance. This Agreement is 
'r.ni",..,.;:;;:~:;~:u,1 orker Retention Ordinance ("SCWRO") (Section 10.36, et seq, 

SCWRO requires that, unless specific exemptions apply, all 
employers (as contracts that are primarily for the furnishing of services to or for 
the City and that expenditure or receipt in excess of $25,000 and a contract term of at 
least three (3) 1 provide retention by a successor contractor for a ninety~day (90-day) 
transition period of the employees who have been employed for the preceding twelve (12) 
months or more by the terminated contractor or subcontractor, if any, as provided for in the 
SCWRO. Under the provisions of Section 10.36.3(c) of the Administrative Code, City has the 
authority, under appropriate circumstances, to terminate this Agreement and otherwise pursue 
legal remedies that may be available if City determines that the subject contractor violated the 
provisions ofthe SCWRO. 
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(g) Child Support Assignment Orders. This Agreement is subject to 
Section 10.1 0, Article 1, Chapter 1, Division 10 of the Administrative Code related to Child 
Support Assignment Orders. Pursuant to this Section, Operator (and any subcontractor of 
Operator providing services to City under this Agreement shall (i) fully comply with all State 
and Federal employment reporting requirements for Operator's or Operator's subcontractor's 
employees applicable to Child Support Assignment Orders; (ii) certify that the principal owner(s) 
of Operator and applicable subcontractors are in compliance with any Wage and Earnings 
Assignment Orders and Notices of Assignment applicable to them personally; (iii) fully comply 
with all lawfully served Wage and Earnings Assignment Orders and · of Assignment in 
accordance with California Family Code section 5230, et (iv) maintain such 
compliance throughout the Term of this Agreement. Section lO.lO.b of the 
Administrative Code, failure of Operator or an applicable to comply with all 
applicable reporting requirements or to implement Wage and Earnings 
Assignment Orders and Notices of Assignment or · · owner(s) of 
Operator or applicable subcontractors to comply Assignment 
Orders and Notices of Assignment applicable to of this 
Agreement subjecting this Agreement to ·~u ......... ~ 
than ninety (90) days after notice of such failure to 
provided in Section 16.1. 

(h) General Provisi 
the Living Wage Ordinance ("L WO") 
L WO requires that, unless specific exempti of the Operator are covered 

on premises at least of 
on a frequent basis, (2) any of 

by the L WO if any of the following applies: · · 
portion of which are 
the services could 
requisite financial 
has determined in 
Employees '''"'"'r''" 

·. employees if the awarding authority had the 
.. ~.,·•£'-,•··~·~·~ administrative agency of the City 

the proprietary interests of the City. 
,.:,¥_.,.1.}3;:,"''"' paid not less than a minimum initial wage 

09, · · $10.30 per hour with health benefits of at least 
per hour). The LWO also requires that employees be 

~.t:i1sated days off per year for sick leave, vacation, or 
uest, and at least ten ( 1 0) additional days per year of 

The L WO requires employers to inform 
employees dollars ($12.00) per hour of their possible right to the federal 
Earned Income and to make available the forms required to secure advance 
EITC payments pursuant to Section 10.37.4. Operator shall permit access to 
work sites for City representatives to review the operation, payroll, and related 
documents, and to certified copies of the relevant records upon request by the City. 
Whether or not subject to the L WO, Operator shall not retaliate against any employee claiming 
non-compliance with the provisions of the L WO, and, in addition, pursuant to 
Section 10.37.6(c), Operator agrees to comply with federal law prohibiting retaliation for union 
orgamzmg. 

(i) Living Wage Coverage Determination. The CAO has made the initial 
determination that this Agreement is subject to the L WO. Operator, although subject to the 
L WO, may be exempt from most of the requirements of the L WO if Operator qualifies for such 
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exemption under the provisions of the L WO. Determinations as to whether an employer or 
employee is exempt from coverage under the L WO are not final, but are subject to review and 
revision as additional facts are examined and/or other interpretations of the law are considered. 
Applications for exemption must be renewed every two (2) years. To the extent Operator claims 
non-coverage or exemption from the provisions of the L WO, the burden shall be on Operator to 
prove such non-coverage or exemption, and, where applicable, renew such exemption. 

(j) Compliance; Termination Provisions and Other Remedies. Living Wage 
Policy. If Operator is not initially exempt from the L WO, Operator shf!Jl comply with all of the 
provisions of the L WO, including payment to employees at the m~1:1ii¥t~fu..}vage rates, effective 
on the Execution Date of this Agreement, and shall execute a Ds;~ ,v ion of Compliance Form 
contemporaneously with the execution of this Agreement. 1~4~Jftf. . is initially exempt from 
the L WO, but later no longer qualifies for any exemption$( Opera~t~~~hall, at such time as 
Operator is no longer exempt, comply with the prov . . o"f\the L W~~~<~ execute the then-
currently used Declaration of Compliance Form, or as the L WO{ii;:e. ¥ires. Under the 
provisions of Section 10.37.6(c) of the Los 've Code, vid . ··... o(the LWO 

• •'I .t".F'" 

shall constitute a material breach of this . be entitled . . ;,. eftninate this 
Agreement and otherwise pursue legal remedies that including.:~those set forth 
in the L WO, if City determines that Operator · provisions of the L WO. The 
procedures and time periods provided··· LWO are in procedures and time periods 
provided in Section 15.1 of this shall be construed to 
extend the time periods or limit the 

(k) 
applicable where 
required to obtain a 
following articles 
Code: Article 1 

. This Section 11.2(k) is 
of Los Angeles and Operator is 

pursuant to one or more of the 
II of the Los Angeles Municipal 

"'"'"H.;.:;:;n:"'l.OO, et seq.], Article 1.3 (Commercial 
Article 1. 7 (Transient Occupancy Tax) 
Tax) [section 21.11.1, et seq.]. Prior to 

effective date of any extension of the Term or renewal of 
to the CAO proof satisfactory to the CAO that 

Operator is not then currently delinquent in any tax 
payment City may terminate this Agreement upon thirty 
(30) days' to Operator if City determines that Operator failed to have the 
required TRCs in any tax payments required under the Tax Ordinances at the 
time of entering the Term of, or renewing this Agreement. City may also 
terminate this upon ninety (90) days prior written notice to Operator at any time 
during the Term of Agreement if Operator fails to maintain required TRCs or becomes 
delinquent in tax payments required under the Tax Ordinances and Operator fails to cure such 
deficiencies within the ninety (90) day period. 

(l) Slavery Disclosure Ordinance. This Agreement is subject to the 
applicable provisions of the Slavery Disclosure Ordinance ("SDO") (Section 10.41, et seq, of the 
Los Angeles Administrative Code. Unless otherwise exempt in accordance with the provision of 
the Ordinance, Operator certifies that it has complied with the applicable provisions of the 
Ordinance. Under the provisions of Section 1 0.41.2(b) of the Los Angeles Administrative Code, 
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City has the authority, under appropriate circumstances, to terminate this Agreement and 
otherwise pursue legal remedies that may be available to City if City determines that the 
Operator failed to fully and accurately complete the SDO affidavit or otherwise violated any 
provision ofthe SDO. 

(m) Americans With Disabilities Act. Operator hereby certifies that the 
Center will comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12101 et seq., and its 
implementing regulations during the term of this Agreement. Operator will provide reasonable 
accommodations to allow qualified individuals with disabilities to ha-x~~~ access to the N mtheast 
Animal Care Center and have the benefit of the Animal Welfare Ser~~s\i.n accordance with the 
provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act. Operator~::::>*! not ~"discriminate against 
persons with disabilities nor against persons due to their re~~ , to or association with a 
person with a disability. Any subcontract entered into by Op~tor, re~ ~ to this Agreement, to 
the extent allowed hereunder, shall be subject to the pro~h~!~:~s:~fthis Se ~ 8.2 m . 

.. <(~?>~ c ~~~<~·,, ·"h·/~~/~ 

(n) Contractor Responsibility Qe/if~ance. ,, This Agree~~'fit~~§:~.subJect to the 
,oZ")o.;,i;'• '>;> ·~-~~;t '.;''· ..<.( 

Contractor Responsibility Ordinance ("CRO").~;;,tS~etipn 1 0.4iQ~~ et seq, of tll~i?t:Wtrs Angeles 
Administrative Code "LAAC") and the rules and re :· :§l.~tiOI1$:!'¥~.qmlgated pur~;ffant thereto as 
they may be updated. The CRO requires that, unless spr~~~?:exe~ptions apply as specified in 
LAAC 10.40.4(a), lessees or licensee City property wtt~~~~nder services on the leased or 
licensed premises are covered by the · ... · . of the folloWtfl> .. applies: (1) the services are 
rendered on premises at least a portion . . 'ted by~ ·-.v. tl'al numbers of the public 
on a frequent basis, (2) any of the services perfot;P1ed by City employees if the 
awarding authority had the "/resources, or (3) designated 
administrative agency of that coverage would further the 
proprietary interests City property who are not exempt 
pursuant to LAAC to the CRO solely due to an amendment to 
an existing lease or · pleted a questionnaire ("Questionnaire") 
signed under penalty of the City in determination that the lessee or 
licensee is · the and capacity to perform the work set forth 
in the of City property who are covered by the CRO, including 
those are required to complete the following Pledge of 

all applicable federal state, and local laws and regulations in 
including but not limited to laws regarding health and safety, 
hour, and licensing laws which affect employees; 

(2) the awarding authority within thirty (30) calendar days after 
receiving notification that any government agency has initiated an investigation that may result 
in a finding that the lessee or licensee did not comply with clause (1) of this Section 8.2(n) in the 
performance of the lease or license; 

(3) notify the awarding authority within thirty (30) calendar days of all 
findings by a government agency or court of competent jurisdiction that the lessee or licensee 
has violated clause (1) of this Section 8.2(n) above in the performance of the lease or license; 
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(4) ensure within thirty (30) days (or such shorter time as may be required by 
the awarding authority) that subcontractors working on the lease or license submit a POC to the 
awarding authority signed under penalty of perjury; and 

( o) The Operator shall: 

(1) notify the awarding authority within thirty (30) calendar days after 
receiving notification that any governmental agency has initiated an investigation that may result 
in a finding that Operator did not comply with any applicable federal,,,;~tate, or local law in the 
performance of this Agreement, including but not limited to laws< rO.Jpg health and safety, 
labor and employment, wage and hour, and licensing laws which . :«ct employees; 

r..1:•/ ~~ 

(2) notify the awarding authority within tJU:~~ (3 ~ndar days of receiving 
notice of any findings by a government agency or court .9f.co~petent . · .!ction that Operator 
violated any applicable federal, state, or local law_.;:!:fi>··'f:fi~. performanb . :f this Agreement 
including but not limited to laws regarding health <·/safety, labor and emlfl~~ent, wage and 
hour, and licensing laws which affect employees3,.,.: ·. \.; ·--~~®"~~:l: 

. . --~1;;;, ;;{if;>' 

(3) notify the awarding authorit~·::; . ·m1ff thltty (30) caifndar days of 
its subcon ·.·J~~tprs and investigations or findings becoming aware of any information re · 

regarding the subcontractor's 
performance of this Agreement, incl 

applicable · al, state, or local law in the 
imited to 1 ~~garding health and safety, 

labor and employment, wage and hour, which -~-i employees. 

(p) 
Questionnaire must be 
to the responses if 
this Agreement. N . 
the Questionnaire if 
original 

receiving noti 
in a finding that the 
in the performance 
safety, labor and 

Operator's responses to the 
thirty (30) days of any changes 

ur,erl~tor·s fitness and ability to continue performing 
>per~t9:J,;~Sh~tll not be required to provide updates to 

'""'"'"'··~~ solely because of an amendment to the 
in any investigation pursuant to CRO by 

by City. Operator agrees that City may keep 
Operator shall ensure that subcontractors who 

by these same updating requirements including the 

awarding authority within thirty (30) calendar days after 
government agency has initiated an investigation which may result 

did not comply with any applicable federal, state, or local law 
Agreement, including but not limited to laws regarding health and 

wage and hour, and licensing laws which affect employees; and 

(2) notify the awarding authority within thirty (30) calendar days of all 
findings by a government agency or court of competent jurisdiction that the subcontractor 
violated any applicable federal, state, or local law in the performance of this Agreement, 
including but not limited to laws regarding health and safety, labor and employment, wage and 
hour, and licensing laws which affect employees. 
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The requirement that Operator provide Questionnaires and updates to 
Questionnaire responses does not apply to subcontractors. 

(q) If the Operator is not exempt from the CRO, Operator shall comply with 
all of the provisions of the CRO and this Agreement. Failure to comply with the provisions of 
the CRO, including without limitation the requirements that all responses to the Questionnaire 
are complete and accurate, to provide updates as provided therein and to correct any deficiencies 
within ten (10) days of notice by City, or failure to comply with the provisions of this Agreement 
shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement and City shall be_.;!i':Jltitled to terminate this 
Agreement and otherwise pursue any legal remedies that may be a; .vl~bly, including those set 
forth in the CRO. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construe // xtend the time periods or 
limit the remedies provided in the CRO. "~f~ ->:~~~. 

"-:~x:z.:::~::-:, 

Section 9.4. 

··.;~~i~~~j~~t::~', 

''&'/~{~;~,,,, 
-·.·,""·~·r·.· ... for the activ~~W~~ligence or 

. inderhnify and hold 
and employees from and against 

, including, but not limited to 
wnatsoe·ver, that may arise 

Animal Care Center by 
or attending any project or 

claims or liabilities involving 

City shall defend, indemnify and hold 
from and against any Losses actually 

Representative, based upon, arising out of, 
the City or its Representatives to comply with, 

obligations, agreements, terms or conditions in this 

for Representatives. Each of the City and the Operator agrees 
....... ., ......... J.,w" favor of any of its Representatives, as agent and trustee of that 

each of the City and the Operator may enforce an indemnity in 
·on behalf of that Representative. 

Party Claims. 

(a) Notice of Third Party Claim. If an Indemnified Party receives notice of 
the commencement or assertion of any Third Party Claim, the Indemnified Party shall give the 
Indemnifier reasonably prompt notice thereof, but in any event no later than 45 days after receipt 
of such notice of such Third Party Claim. Such notice to the Indemnifier shall describe the Third 
Party Claim in reasonable detail (and include a copy of any complaint or related documents) and 
shall indicate, if reasonably practicable, the estimated amount of the Loss that has been or may 
be sustained by the Indemnified Party. 
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(b) Defense of Third Party Claim. The Indenmifier may participate in or 
assume the defense of any Third Party Claim by giving notice to that effect to the Indemnified 
Party not later than 30 days after receiving notice of that Third Party Claim (the "Notice 
Period"). The Indemnifier's right to do so shall be subject to the rights of any insurer or other 
Party who has potential liability in respect of that Third Party Claim. The Indemnifier agrees to 
pay all of its own expenses of participating in or assuming each defense. The Indemnified Party 
shall co-operate in good faith in the defense of each Third Party Claim, even if the defense has 
been assumed by the Indemnifier and may participate in such defense assisted by counsel of its 
own choice at its own expense. If the Indemnified Party has not ~~~ived notice within the 
Notice Period that the Indemnifier has elected to assume the defen&~fJ~r·§l1c,h Third Party Claim, 
the Indemnified Party may assume such defense, assisted by cou its own choosing and the 
Indemnifier shall be liable for all reasonable costs and expel)a:~§' ;;;;;Q,r incurred in connection 
therewith and any Loss suffered or incurred by the Indemnifi~ Part)?~~.,respect to such Third 

Party Claim. ';\ '':;~f~~;1~~~:~>. 
Indemnifier anlf~e Indemnified 

which is<tfttdtett~king and 
, (i) tbg;:~e employees 

the Defending Party in evaluating 
records and other materials in 

for its use in defending 
Party. The 

with making such 
of any employees made 

hPl"Plln·IO:I·;,.,.., which expense shall not exceed 
u~~v._,,, .. ,_,.,...· .' •. with such' employees. 

Claim shall be asserted by giving the 
any event not later than 90 days after the 

Claim. The Indemnifier shall then have a 
in writing to such Direct Claim. If the Indenmifier 

the Indemnifier shall be deemed to have rejected 
Party may submit such Direct Claim to the 

· to Give Timely Notice. A failure to give timely notice in 
accordance with shall not affect the rights or obligations of any Party except and 
only to the extent a result of such failure, a Party which was entitled to receive such 
notice was deprived right to recover any payment under its applicable insurance coverage 
or was otherwise directly and materially damaged as a result of such failure. 

Section 9.7. Reductions and Subrogation. If the amount of any Loss incurred by an 
Indemnified Party at any time subsequent to the making of an indemnity payment hereunder (an 
"lndenmity Payment") is reduced by any recovery, settlement or otherwise under or pursuant to 
any insurance coverage, or pursuant to any claim, recovery, settlement or payment by or against 
any other Person, the amount of such reduction (less any costs, expenses (including Taxes) or 
premiums incurred in connection therewith), together with interest thereon from the date of 
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payment thereof at the Bank Rate, shall promptly be repaid by the Indemnified Party to the 
Indemnifier. Upon making a full Indemnity Payment, the Indemnifier shall, to the extent of such 
Indemnity Payment, be subrogated to all rights of the Indemnified Party against any third party 
in respect of the Loss to which the Indemnity Payment relates. Until the Indemnified Party 
recovers full payment of its Loss, any and all claims of the Indemnifier against any such third 
party on account of such Indemnity Payment shall be postponed and subordinated in right of 
payment to the Indemnified Party's rights against such third party. 

Section 9.8. Payment and Interest. All amounts to 
hereunder shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the Bank 
payable monthly, both before and after judgment, from the 
disbursed funds, suffered damages or losses or incurred a 
Loss for which the Indemnifier is liable to make payment 
payment by the Indemnifier to the Indemnified Party. 

Section 9.9. Other Matters. 
Operator waives any limits to the amount of its 
or contribute to any sums due under any Losses, 
Operator, that may be subject to the provisions of 
Code or any other related law or j 

Section 9.10. 

(a) Any 
under this Agreement 
counterclaims, rights o 
deduct payments 
have at any time 
any transferee or '"'""''1".'1"' 
thereof or· 

each Party's obligations 
the benefit of, all defenses, 

...,.<J,utJL" and rights, including the right to 
, "Offsets") which such Party may 

respective successors and assigns) or 
s rights as against such Party or any part 
of such Pmiy relied upon for such purpose 

and no transfer or assignment of this 
other Party, or of any rights in respect thereof, 

liquidation or otherwise shall affect or impair the 

any Party be liable to the other Party under this 
indirect, exemplary or punitive damages (except for claims for 

~:st·epresenitatJ'.on or intentional breach). 

Section 9.11. Survival. This Article 9 shall remain in full force and effect in all 
circumstances and shall not be terminated by any breach (fundamental, negligent or otherwise) 
by any Party of its representations, warranties or covenants hereunder or by any tetmination or 
rescission ofthis Agreement by any Party. 

Page 30 



ARTICLE 10 
INSURANCE 

Section 10.1. Insurance Coverage Required. The Operator shall provide and 
maintain at the Operator's own expense, or cause to be maintained, during the Term and during 
any time period following expiration if the Operator is required to return and perform any 
additional work, the insurance coverages and requirements specified below, insuring the 
Northeast Animal Care Center and all Northeast Animal Care Center Operations (the "Required 
Coverages"). 

Section 10.2. General Liability Insurance. Operata all provide and maintain 
general liability insurance in an amount not less than One , ·.:' •. .Dollars ($1,000,000) per 
occurrence, Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000) aggregate for b.@;[ily in '·. nd property damage. 

-,.;:;,-," .. 

Section 10.3. Automobile Liability 
non-owned or hired) are used in connection 
automobile liability insurance in an amount not ~es~<;t);J,an 
accident for bodily injury and property damage. 

Section 10.4. Builder's Risk 
maintenance or repairs to the N mtheast 
all risk builder's risk insurance 

~R~~l;.!'llvl undertakes any construction, 
shall provide and maintain 

materials in transit and stored on and off---_,""' __ _ 
of property, including 

value of construction and 
materials on hand. 

and 's Liability Insurance. By 
that it is aware of the provisions of Sections 

every employer to be insured against 
'-'"'-''-'x•an. ... self-insurance in accordance with the 

such provisions at all such times as they 
A Waiver of Subrogation in favor of City is 

'"·"'""''H workers' compensation covering all employees 
Agreement and employer's liability insurance in an 

......,,,.~,~ ... for bodily injury or disease. 

A<IIGI1Uolnat Insureds/ Additional Interest/Loss Payee. Operator agrees 
:ttH)er;~¥,::Blgems and employees shall be included as: 

b) Named insured in all required builder's risk insurance. 

c) Loss payee as its interests may appear in all required property insurance. 

Section 10.7. Operator's Property. City will not insure Operator's equipment, stored 
goods, other personal property, fixtures, or Operator improvements, nor such personal property 
owned by Operator's sub-Operators or assignees, if any, or invitees. City shall not be required to 
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repair any injury or damage to any personal property or trade fixtures installed in the Northeast 
Animal Care Center by Operator caused by fire or other casualty, or to replace any such personal 
property or trade fixtures. Operator may, at Operator's sole option and expense, obtain physical 
damage insurance covering Operator's equipment, stored goods, other personal property, fixtures 
or Operator improvements or obtain business interruption insurance. 

Section 10.8. Notice of Change in Insurance. All insurance policies required under 
this Agreement shall expressly provide that such insurance shall not be canceled or materially 
reduced in coverage or limits except after thirty (30) days' (ten (lOtdays for non-payment of 
premium) written notice has been given to City Administrative >' • cen;, Risk Management, 
City Hall East, Room 1240, 200 North Main Street, Los Angeles, /. 'ifornia 90012. 

' . 

Section 10.9. Default. If insurance is canceled, lal'e , )iuced below minimums 
required in this Article 10, City may consider this · 'fq. be in ClltJuJJ and may terminate 
it. Termination shall occur at the expiration of a · · ·.notice giv~;t.:n, accordance with 
the provisions of the Code of Civil Procedure the terminatidit~{ three (3) days 

'•~f"'\. ..... •"x""-J-'\.·,. ;'~1-

or sooner, the Operator shall vacate the N Center and tne$:~p~"rator shall 
have no right to possess or control the Northeast or the opera,y:f8ns conducted 
therein. If the Operator does not vacate, City may uti court proceedings to obtain 
a right to possession. 

Section 10.10. Adjustment of h,.·,:cr'"'"'~M ..• :rP<,.,r,.~,.,., the right at any 
time during the Term or any extension applying generally 
accepted risk management principles, to types of insurance required 
hereunder upon giving (90) in order to insure that the 
Operator is . vUC>VULUU,~y Hh:JU.~ ... ~·'-'" amounts and types during the Term 
of the Agreement. 

will not require 

respect to property damage, each Party 
'"'~·~"''"'"" applicable to the California Standard Fire 

andalism and Malicious Mischief endorsements. 

/Licensed California Broker. All insurance must be 
business in California or written through a California­

an insurer otherwise acceptable to the City. 

Not Required. Operator's insurance shall be primary and 
or shall be endorsed to effect these provisions. 

Section 10.14. Separation of Insureds. Except with respect to the insurance company's 
limits of liability, each liability insurance policy shall apply separately to each insured against 
whom a claim or suit is brought. The inclusion of any person or organization as an insured shall 
not affect any right such person or organization would have as a claimant if not so included. 

Section 10.15. Insurance Approval. All insurance required hereunder shall conform to 
the City requirements established by Charter, ordinance or policy. Evidence of Insurance shall 
be approved by the Office of the Administrative Officer, Risk Management prior to tenancy 
under this Agreement in accordance with the Los Angeles Administrative Code. 
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Section 10.16. Evidence of Insurance. Electronic submission via Track4LA ®' the 
City's online insurance compliance system (ht1j://track4la.lacity.org), is the preferred method for 
submitting evidence of insurance. Track4LA can be used by insurance brokers and agents to 
submit Operator insurance certificates directly to the City using the ACORD 25 Certificate of 
Liability Insurance in electronic format. Insurance Industry Certificates of Insurance other than 
the ACORD 25 may also be accepted. However all Certificates must provide a thirty (30) days' 
notice provision (ten (1 0) days for non-payment of premium) and an Additional Insured 
Endorsement naming the City an additional insured completed by Operator's insurance company 
or its designee. If the policy includes an automatic or blanket · insured endorsement, 
the Insurance Certificate must state that the City is an automatic additional insured. 
An endorsement naming the City as an insured is required on s risk policies. An 
endorsement naming the City as Loss Payee as its Interest . required on all property 
coverages. Alternatively, the Operator may submit a copy policy containing 
language which complies with the requirements of.~:-~.. 'tional Insured 
Endorsements do not apply to the following: Indis~tfon of· compliance 

'?,%/ 

Workers' Compensation Law. ,.,:~ 
.?>:?.;'>~ 

,;Y , "~~~~~~ 

Section 11.2. 
good faith to resolve 
such dispute. If the . 
notice by either 
of each Party. The 
conferring 
the · 

.cit in connection with this 

..... '!;3UJIU.~j,J~,~~~~!~~~a~:f~~. The Parties shall attempt in 
by the other Party of notice of 

dispute within such 15-day period, and upon 
referred to the Designated Senior Person 

in good faith to resolve the dispute, 
"t~s:ate:t:fe~;smrv. Statements made by representatives of 

'"'"'"'"ri'"""'S set forth in this Section 11.2 and documents 
procedures shall be considered part of 

admissible as evidence in any arbitration or other 
the Parties without the mutual written consent of the 

ding Mediation. Non-binding mediation of a dispute under this 
AliA.,.., ... .., ....... until the earlier of: (i) such time as both of the Designated 

the procedures set forth in Section 11.2, conclude in good faith 
that amicable through continued negotiation of the matter does not appear likely; or 
(ii) 15 days after the notice referring the dispute to the Designated Senior Persons, pursuant to 
Section 11.2. If, after such time period, the dispute remains umesolved, the Parties shall attempt 
to resolve the dispute through non-binding mediation administered by the American Arbitration 
Association ("AAA") under its Commercial Mediation Procedures before resorting to judicial 
reference of the dispute for a binding decision, as provided by Section 11.4. 
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Section 11.4. Judicial Reference of Disputes. All controversy ansmg out of this 
Agreement shall be heard by a referee pursuant to the provisions of the California Code of Civil 
Procedure Section 638, et seq. The parties shall agree upon a single referee who shall then try all 
issues, whether of fact or law, and report a finding and judgment thereon. If the parties are 
unable to agree upon a referee, either party may seek to have one appointed, pursuant to Sections 
638 et seq. of the California Code of Civil Procedure. The cost of such proceeding shall initially 
be borne equally by the parties. However, the prevailing party shall be entitled, in addition to all 
other costs, to the costs of the reference as an item of recoverable costs. 

Section 11.5. Provisional Remedies. No Party shall be, .. 
proceeding in a court of competent jurisdiction for the purpose 
provisional remedy to protect its rights that may be necessary 
under this Agreement, including temporary and prelimina 
orders and the appointment of a receiver or recei 
collection and retention of Other Operator Revenues ... '· · 

lt1Qed from initiating a 
taining any emergency or 
.. ·s not otherwise available 

relief and restraining 
nnection with the 

(a) Events of Default. or more of the following 
Agreement: events during the Term shall constitute a'~~= 

Return as 

period 
Operator 
proceeding, 
(B) its actions 
reasonable period 
cured within such 

"~"'F>~F-'~'"' in any form of Trap, Neuter, 
Care Center which violates the 

euter, Return activities; or 

~n~,;..<:;~lW~t~~~~:;::;('tifiS to comply with, perform or observe any 
condition in this Agreement, and such failure 

(30) calendar Days following notice thereof (giving 
from the City to the Operator or for such longer 

,...,..,,,..,aJt:;Y to cure such failure, provided, in the latter case, that the 
satisfaction of the City, acting reasonably, that (A) it is 
all due diligence to cure or cause to be cured such failure, 

expected to cure or cause to be cured such failure within a 
;'2,ac.cen,taole to the City, acting reasonably and (C) such failme is in fact 

time; or 

(iii) if the Operator (A) admits, in writing, that it is unable to pay its 
debts as such become due, (B) makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, (C) files a 
voluntary petition under Title 11 of the U.S. Code, or if such petition is filed against it and an 
order for relief is entered, or if ~he Operator files any petition or answer seeking, consenting to or 
acquiescing in any reorganization, arrangement, composition, readjustment, liquidation, 
dissolution or similar relief under the present or any future U.S. bankruptcy code or any other 
present or future applicable Law, or shall seek or consent to or acquiesce in or suffer the 
appointment of any trustee, receiver, custodian, assignee, sequestrator, liquidator or other similar 
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official of the Operator or of all or any substantial part of its properties or of the Northeast 
Animal Care Center or any interest therein, or (D) takes any corporate action in furtherance of 
any action described in this Section 12.1 (a)(ii); 

(b) Remedies of the City Upon Operator Default. Upon the occurrence of a 
Operator Default, the City may, by notice to the Operator in accordance with the terms hereof, 
declare the Operator to be in default and rna y, subject to the provisions of Article 11 , do any or 
all of the following as the City, in its discretion, shall determine: 

(i) if the Operator Default is by 
monies to third parties, the City may (without obligation to do so) 
Operator of such monies, and any amount so paid by the City 
the City within 1 0 Business Days after demand therefor; 

(ii) the City may seek 
equitable remedies, it being acknowledged that 
Default; 

available action 
Agreement, and 
no reentry 
unless a 

for hereunder or at 

that entitle the City to 
City may terminate the 

~ai'i~§~~e~nter, and in such event, the City 
tmJmtil:lt;tlately or . any time thereafter re-enter the 

v.~,:.,,u .. " and all or any property therefrom, by any 
uity, and with or without terminating this 

vx·>.HUHU.l Care Center; provided, however, that 
on its part to terminate this Agreement 

Operator; provided further that any re-entry or 
a.v~,vi ''-'"'1"'-' with this Agreement as against the Operator 

City may, subject to applicable Law, distrain against any of the 
Northeast Animal Care Center and the Operator waives any 

ex!~lPtHJDS in connection therewith; and 

, the City may exercise any of its other rights and remedies provided 
or equity. 

ARTICLE 13 
MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 13.1. Notice. All notices and demands which may or are to be required or 
permitted to be given by either Party to the other hereunder shall be in writing. All notices and 
demands shall be personally delivered (including by means of professional messenger service), 

Page 35 



sent by United States registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, or 
transmitted by telecopier (e.g., Fax), in which case the receiving Party shall immediately confirm 
receipt of such notice. All notices are effective upon receipt. For the purposes of such notices, 
the addresses for the parties are set forth in Section 13.2 below. Either Party may from time to 
time designate another Person or place in a notice. 

Section 13.2. Notices - Where Sent. All notices given under this Agreement which are 
mailed or telecopied shall be addressed to the respective pmties as follows: 

To City: 

City of Los Angeles 
City Administrative Officer 
200 North Main Street, 15th Floor 
Los Angeles, California 90012 
Telecopier: (213) 473-7540 

To Operator: 

Section 13.3. 

Section 1 
entities nor licensed 
agent located within 

vv• .. ~···· constitutes the entire agreement 
hereof and supersedes all prior agreements, 

oral, between the Parties. There are no 
ai!J~eements, whether direct or collateral, or 

• • Agreement, or that induced any Party to enter 
by any Party, except as specifically set forth 

and agree that (i) each has substantial business 
"1'"'~"".''"' provisions of this Agreement, (ii) the provisions and 

fully negotiated and (iii) no provision of this Agreement 
Party or against any Party by reason of such provision of this 

on behalf of one Party rather than the other. 

for Service of Notice and Process. If neither California legal 
business in the State of California, the Operator shall designate an 

County of Los Angeles, State of California, for service of legal process. 

Section 13.5. Amendment. This Agreement may be amended, changed or 
supplemented only by a written agreement signed by the Parties. 

Section 13.6. Waiver of Rights. Any waiver of, or consent to depart from, the 
requirements of any provision of this Agreement shall be effective only if it is in writing and 
signed by the Party giving it, and only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for 
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which it has been given. No failure on the part of any Party to exercise, and no delay in 
exercising, any right under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver of such right. No single or 
partial exercise of any such right shall preclude any other or further exercise of such right or the 
exercise of any other right. 

Section 13.7. Severability. Each provisiOn of this Agreement shall be valid and 
enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law. The invalidity of any one or more 
phrases, sentences, clauses or sections contained in this Agreement shall not affect the remaining 
portions of this Agreement or any part thereof. If any provision qf. this Agreement or the 
application thereof to any Person or circumstances is held or deem~~~t§;:::a_f:;! or determined to be 
invalid, inoperative or unenforceable in any particular case if!;~~y particular jurisdiction or 
jurisdictions because it conflicts with any other provision,z,:::p~~: isions hereof or of any 
applicable Law, or public policy, or for any other reason, (i~uch cl ' stances shall not have 
the effect of rendering the provision in question ':~enforce {~~,jn any other case or 
circumstances, or rendering any other provision · · · hereiff~{~.._Qptained invalid, 
inoperative or unenforceable to any extent (ii) Parties shaff~~~gptiLjJe in good 
faith to amend this Agreement to implement the herein. ·.:~;l~~~~$7 

,;~~~~y 

and enforced in 

reserves all right, title, and 
Animal Care Center. 

Except as expressly 
shall constitute or be 

relationship between the City 
construed in any way to grant, 
to this Agreement. 

~gt;J~*1Jrrent shall be governed by, and interpreted 
of California. 

Subject to Article 11, any action or 
relating in any way to this Agreement may be 

of the Central District of California or the Superior 
Court of California and each of the Operator and the City 
hereby jurisdiction of said courts with regard to any such action or 
proceeding, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, any 
objection it may hereafter have to the laying of venue of any such action or 
proceeding in said any claim that any such action or proceeding brought in any such 
court has been an inconvenient forum. Service of process on the City may be made 
only by personal on the City Clerk or Deputy City Clerk of the City with courtesy 
copies sent in accordance with Sections 13.1 and 13 .2. Service of process on the Operator may 
be made either by registered or certified mail addressed as provided for in Section 13.1 or by 
delivery to the Operator's registered agent for service of process in the State of California. If the 
Operator is presented with a request for Documents by any administrative agency or with a 
subpoena duces tecum regarding any Documents which may be in its possession by reason of 
this Agreement, the Operator shall give prompt notice to the City Attorney of the City. The City 
may contest such process by any means available to it before such Documents are submitted to a 
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court or other third party; provided, however, that the Operator shall not be obligated to withhold 
such delivery beyond that time as may be ordered by the court or administrative agency or 
required by Law, unless the subpoena or request is quashed or the time to produce is otherwise 
extended. 

Section 13.12. Further Acts. The Parties shall do or cause to be done all such further 
acts and things as may be reasonably necessary or desirable to give full effect to this Agreement. 
Without limiting the foregoing, each Party will, at any time and from time to time, execute and 
deliver or cause to be executed and delivered such further instruments and take such further 

~:k...""~"'.:'\\.~ 

actions as may be reasonably requested by the other Party in ord~Jl:ffl·:'~'fre any defect in the 
execution and/or delivery ofthis Agreement. ·· 

Section 13.13. Costs. Except as otherwise provide~·;:, is ' 
be responsible for its own costs and expenses incurre,~:in~;eonnectio 

:&~Y~ '\ 
observing its obligations and covenants under this Ag~~:¢nfefit·. 

~}:~ 

ment, each Party shall 
· ·th performing and 

Section 13.14. Counterparts; Facsimile:~· ., tion. ·~his Agreement ·;?b'e executed 
in any number of counterparts which, taken'c tog . ·· :.<. s~~!fticgnstitute one ).iifid the same 
agr~ement This Agreement shall be effective w~en 1~M~lSeen e~ecuted by 'each Party and 
deltvered to all Pmties. To evidence .. fact that 1t has e . · ed th1s Agreement, a Pmty may 
send a copy of its executed counterpart Party by' /~itnile transmission. Such Party 

··.;;:o.·~<··· 

shall be deemed to have executed and 2:reement OO~the.:date it sent such facsimile 
transmission. In such event, such Party deliver ~i1¥he other Party an original 

. ~'$-'"''" 

counterpart of this Agreement executed by 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused this Agreement to be duly executed on its 
behalf by its Mayor pursuant to due authorization of the City Council and the Operator has 
caused this Agreement to be duly executed pursuant to due authorization. If the space provided 
in Section 1.1 of this Agreement is blank, such date shall be entered in such space, although such 
date shall be deemed to be the date of this Agreement in any case. 

CITY OF LOS ANGELES, a municipal corporation, 

By: 
ANTONIO R. VIL1fAR1\IGOSA 

~ >:-

DATE: 

~~; 
~":,· (> 

AS TO FORM: 

CARMEN A. TRUTANICH, City Attorney 

By: 

Deputy City Attorney 

DATE: 
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ATTEST: 

JUNE LAGMAY, City Clerk 

By: 
Deputy 

DATE 
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